Beyond Considering Surrogates' Reports at 'Face Value': Theorizing and Contextualizing the Autonomy-Related Threats of Surrogacy Arrangements

by

Susannah Mackenzie-Freeman

A thesis

presented to the University of Waterloo

in fulfilment of the

thesis requirement for the degree of

Master of Arts

in

Philosophy

Waterloo, Ontario, Canada, 2022

© Susannah Mackenzie-Freeman 2022

Author's Declaration

I hereby declare that I am the sole author of this thesis. This is a true copy of the thesis, including any required final revisions, as accepted by my examiners.

I understand that my thesis may be made electronically available to the public.

Abstract

As research on surrogacy in Canada is only emerging, this thesis seeks to incite discussion relating to the autonomy of surrogates by analyzing recent studies which capture the experiences of surrogates through surveys and interviews. Much of the current literature on surrogacy focuses on issues around commercialization which are less applicable to Canada where surrogacy is altruistic. Moreover, many scholars have either discussed the autonomy of surrogates only from a theoretical perspective, neglecting surrogates' personal accounts, or have assumed that the reports of surrogates should be considered at 'face value.' Ultimately, I show how the reports of surrogates should be acknowledged but it is also important to consider contextual factors, such as whether the reports may be influenced and shaped by the constraints of surrogacy arrangements. While the reports of surrogates reveal the ways surrogates experience and often manage and resist autonomy-related threats, and in turn call into question theoretical concerns about surrogates lacking autonomy and power, certain theoretical concerns remain which are not identified in the studies, either because of empirical limitations or a failure to engage with them. Overall, my discussion is action guiding: I aim to shape emerging scholarship on surrogacy, so that it accounts for the complexity and nuances of surrogates' experiences, and I gesture to certain policy interventions which follow from my discussion.

Acknowledgements

I would foremostly like to thank Dr. Katy Fulfer, who supervised this thesis and supported me throughout the process of writing it, providing insightful perspectives—especially about relational accounts of autonomy and complicated feminist issues—and helpful guidance which respected my ideas but enabled me to properly develop them. I would also like to thank my readers, Dr. Patricia Marino and Dr. Mathieu Doucet, who provided a number of thoughtful comments relevant to the thesis and future work relating to it.

I recognize that I have been influenced and inspired by many scholars over the years. At the University of Waterloo, Dr. Andrea Pitts introduced me to the work of Sherwin and McLeod; Dr. Carla Fehr introduced me to feminist issues of agency and autonomy; and Dr. Alana Cattapan gave me a better understanding of the kinds of studies which have been conducted on surrogacy in Canada. I also thank my previous mentors for assisting me with honing my research and writing skills: Dr. Howard Nye and Dr. Jennifer Welchman at the University of Alberta, and Professor Gerard Porter at the University of Edinburgh.

The University of Waterloo's Department of Philosophy has a supportive staff and cohort of graduate students, many of whom became my friends and helped me diversify my philosophical views. Among my friends more broadly I would like to especially thank Noah who helped me proofread the thesis and supported me throughout the process of writing it, and Rhia who taught me a lot about the law, and writing more generally, during our time studying in the UK.

Finally, I would like to acknowledge those I have lost in recent years who continue to motivate me: my Grandma Millie, who valued higher education; my cat of nineteen years, Sparkles, who supported me; my family friend, Earle, who was always keen to discuss philosophy; and Ms. Wright, who introduced me to philosophy in high school.

Dedication

This thesis is dedicated in memory of Dr. Geoff Hollis-Haynes. Geoff taught me PSYCH 105 at the University of Alberta. After class I often stayed behind to ask philosophical questions which he liked and much preferred to students' usual questions about the syllabus. We eventually became good friends and would often meet for coffee and talk philosophy. Meeting Geoff was a transformative experience and I am grateful for our enriching discussions which I remember with surprising clarity. In addition to being an intellectual, Geoff had a big heart, was a feminist who liked animals—and, when applicable, the placebo effect of decaf coffee—and was a fervent supporter of my abilities and ambitions. Geoff was, and remains to be, a special person who I kept in mind as I was writing this thesis.

Table of Contents

| Introduction | 1 |
|--|----|
| Chapter 1: Surrogacy in the Canadian Context | 7 |
| 1.1 Introducing Surrogacy | 7 |
| 1.2 Surrogacy: The Legal and Regulatory Context | 12 |
| Chapter 2: What Do the Studies Suggest About the Autonomy of Surrogates? | 18 |
| 2.1 Describing the Threats to Autonomy | 19 |
| 2.2 Making Sense of the Threats to Autonomy | 30 |
| 2.3 When Autonomy Becomes Undermined: A Contextually Dependent Question | 33 |
| 2.4 What Do the Studies Reveal About the Autonomy of Surrogates? | 43 |
| Chapter 3: The Need for Contextualization: What is Missing in the Studies? | 47 |
| 3.1 Limitations in the Empirical Research | 48 |
| 3.2 Neglected Contexts: Considering External Constraints | 53 |
| 3.3 The Need for Contextualizing the Reports of Surrogates | 63 |
| Chapter 4: Future Directions in Research and Policy | 65 |
| 4.1 Factors Which Protect Against Threats to Autonomy | 66 |
| 4.2 Capturing the Protective Factors—and Threats to Autonomy—in Policy | 78 |
| Chapter 5: Conclusion | 85 |
| Bibliography | 86 |

Introduction

Surrogacy is increasingly pursued by Canadians seeking to expand their families.¹ Yet surrogacy's increase in prevalence has been met with little research, to the effect that even the number of surrogacy arrangements pursued in Canada is unknown.² However, in recent years, a few studies have been conducted which capture the experiences of surrogates in Canada.³ These studies are significant because, since the 1980s, scholars have made theoretical claims about surrogacy without accounting for the experiences of surrogates themselves. Often such claims are negative, assuming that surrogates are harmed, oppressed, and degraded by their arrangements.⁴ These claims suggest, whether explicitly or by implication, that surrogacy arrangements undermine the autonomy of surrogates.⁵ In response, recent studies have called for an assessment of whether these claims are substantiated by the reports of surrogates.

In my thesis I will be examining studies, published within the last few years, which provide insight into the experiences of surrogates. Many of the studies I review are Canadian: Yee et al. (2019) and Yee et al. (2020), who surveyed surrogates to gauge their satisfaction with their arrangements; Fantus (2020), who interviewed surrogates and intended parents, observing the barriers they encountered when seeking information and services pertinent to surrogacy; and Carsley (2021), who interviewed fertility lawyers to ascertain their views on surrogacy agreements and the associated laws and regulations. I will also consider two studies conducted

Π'n

¹ Fantus (2020), 804.

² E.g., see Yee et al. (2020). 256; Reilly, 483. One estimate is more than 400 arrangements are pursued each year (see Surrogacy in Canada Online, "Surrogacy FAQ").

³ And some are ongoing. See "Surrogates' Voices: Exploring Surrogates' Experiences and Insights," https://surrogatesvoices.webflow.io/.

⁴ E.g., see Anderson (1990) and Dodds and Jones (1989). See also: Peng, 557.

⁵ Many of these theorists, including Anderson and Dodds and Jones, have discussed surrogacy as inherently commodifying or otherwise problematic in a way that cannot be resolved (e.g., that surrogates are harmed as they 'give away' the child).

⁶ These I consider significant as they discuss the experiences of surrogates as opposed to the intended parents.

⁷ Yee et al.'s research (of both their 2019 and 2020 articles) was funded by a fertility centre.

outside of Canada, which capture the complicated ways in which surrogates experience and manage *autonomy-related threats*, which I define as factors which are potentially, but not necessarily, autonomy undermining (akin to 'risks to autonomy'): Teman (2010), whose ethnographic study was based in Israel, and Ziff (2021), who interviewed American surrogates. My aim by analyzing these studies is to discern what kinds of autonomy-related implications these reports might have.⁸

Much of the scholarship on the ethics of surrogacy focuses on broad questions, such as whether surrogacy should be commercialized, and related issues of commodification and exploitation. As such, when scholars address the autonomy of surrogates it is often in tandem with these concerns, specifically considering whether surrogates are generally oppressed, harmed, commodified, or exploited. Some scholars have considered more narrow issues, such as whether surrogates autonomously consent to their surrogacy arrangements, considering concerns around financial coercion and difficulties in preemptively anticipating and agreeing to potential harms. There is limited scholarship on the ethical significance of the experiences of surrogates, especially as they navigate various stressors during the course of their pregnancy.

In my thesis, I will ultimately argue for a balanced view of surrogacy arrangements, as not necessarily autonomy undermining nor empowering. There is currently a stark divide in the literature. Much of the longstanding theoretical views of surrogacy display a pessimistic perspective of autonomy, which neglects the experiences of surrogates, whereas many of the studies appear optimistic about the autonomy of surrogates, emphasizing the ways they benefit from their arrangements, maintain their agency, and manage the autonomy-related threats they

⁸ Although I will focus on the studies I have mentioned here, I will also refer to Payne et al. (2020), who critically reviewed research on surrogacy arrangements in various countries, including Canada, and Toledano and Zeiler (2017), who analyze interviews conducted in Canada, the United States, and Australia.

⁹ Especially in relation to countries perceived as 'poor' like India.

encounter. In my view, each of these approaches are problematic. I stress the importance of attending to the perspectives of surrogates but also being mindful of the limitations of considering surrogates' reports (and how they are framed in the studies) at face value.¹⁰

The thesis will be organized as such. *Chapter 1* will introduce surrogacy in Canada, including its legal and regulatory context. Chapter 2 will address what the studies reveal about the autonomy of surrogates in Canada. Specifically, I will describe the autonomy-related threats which tend to emerge in surrogacy arrangements—loss of control, external pressure, and unexpected harm—and then consider the threats from a broader context which attends to the complicated ways in which surrogates experience and manage these threats. Ultimately, this chapter demonstrates that surrogacy arrangements are potentially, but not necessarily, autonomy undermining. Chapter 3 will examine what the studies neglect to consider about the autonomy of surrogates. In particular, in this chapter I will discuss a problem present in many of these studies: a failure to contextualize and theorize the reports of surrogates. By this I mean that scholars often consider the reports of surrogates at face value, in a way which neglects potential concerns, such as how reports which seem to indicate surrogates' empowerment or satisfaction may rather signal autonomy-related harms. Chapter 4 will discuss the practical implications of chapters 2 and 3. Specifically, I will outline the factors which protect against autonomy-related threats and examine how they might be addressed through policy. In particular, I will focus on improving the consent process for prospective surrogates.

My Account of (Relational) Autonomy

My account of autonomy is intentionally broad as my aim is to demonstrate some of the autonomy-related implications which follow from the reports of surrogates in Canada. The

¹⁰ Some scholars, like Teman, have advocated for considering the reports at "face value." See Payne et al., 184.

standard account of autonomy in medical law and ethics emphasizes the need to support patients' interests, regardless of whether others (e.g., medical professionals) agree with them. A case which captures this understanding of autonomy is *Kings College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust* v. C, in which C rejected life-saving interventions out of the fear that, in pursuing these interventions, her life would no longer 'sparkle.' The courts ruled in favour of C, citing her personal autonomy, but admitted that her justifications could be viewed as "unreasonable, illogical or even immoral." In this thesis I will be using a similar approach as my foundational account of autonomy, holding an individual autonomous so long as they are able to fulfill their autonomous interests, meaning those which genuinely (e.g., upon reflection) support or align with their desires or values. This approach has a subjective component and is based on preference satisfaction. However, I nuance this definition by increasingly attending to broader contexts: how interests are situated relationally and can be influenced by external constraints.

My view of autonomy is largely informed by the work of McLeod and Sherwin, in particular their book chapter, "Relational Autonomy, Self-Trust, and Health Care for Patients Who are Oppressed." I accept their distinction between global autonomy (where an individual as they navigate their life has a certain level of autonomy) and local autonomy (where autonomy can be obstructed or enhanced at specific times and in specific contexts). ¹⁶ I also accept their

_

throughout my thesis, though will only address it in detail in chapter 4.

¹¹ King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust v. C & Anor, 2015 EWCOP 80, para. 8. Note this is a UK case.

¹² ibid, para. 97.

¹³ I begin with this approach because it broadly captures views which are widely held in medical law and ethics. Moreover, the studies have approached surrogates' experiences in a subjective way, relying on surrogates' self-reports, so it is sensible to use a view of autonomy which has a significant subjective component in this chapter.

 ¹⁴ I assume that this definition is 'procedural' or value-neutral, emphasizing the need to not prescribe what an individual's interests should be. However, whether my overall stance is best captured as procedural or weakly substantive is debatable.
 ¹⁵ I note that much of this chapter discusses the concept of 'self-trust' (which is roughly the ability to trust your own decisions, trust the resources which inform your decisions, and trust your ability to act on your decisions). I will allude to this concept

¹⁶ While I do not explicitly refer to this distinction it may be useful for understanding and conceptualizing some of my points. E.g., I address the ways in which a surrogate's autonomy may be harmed at certain points in the arrangement (which relates to local autonomy) and distinguish this from surrogacy arrangements as a whole being autonomy undermining (which may be related to global autonomy).

belief that autonomy is a matter of degrees. Once someone is an autonomous agent, with the capacity to make autonomous decisions at a basic level, ¹⁷ their autonomy can be diminished, just as it can be enabled or enhanced. Autonomy can be diminished (or undermined ¹⁸) for various reasons, some of which are: if someone lacks the capacity or resources to make an informed choice; if they are forced to make certain decisions which contradict their autonomous interests; if they are unsure about their autonomous interests; and if their circumstances prevent them from exercising their autonomy.

In this thesis, I will also distinguish between 'threatened' and 'undermined' autonomy. If autonomy is threatened this means it is only potentially undermined. For example, an individual could face various barriers which threaten their autonomy (e.g., because they are oppressed due to their identity), but this does not necessarily mean their autonomy is actually undermined. ¹⁹ Whether individuals' autonomy is undermined depends on their autonomous interests and how they are impacted by the threats. Consider a woman who is catcalled; there are many ways this act could be said to threaten autonomy (e.g., in potentially causing psychological harm²⁰ or in being an objectifying act) but it may not undermine her autonomy if, for example, she is genuinely unbothered by it. Similarly, someone could encounter an autonomy-related threat but be able to manage it to an extent it does not interfere with their autonomy. Consider, for example, a sales agent attempting to manipulate someone into buying a product they do not want—but doing so unsuccessfully.

In this thesis I will draw on feminist perspectives in philosophy, referring primarily to McLeod and Sherwin (2000) and Oshana (2006), while also touching upon the work of Bailey

¹⁷ E.g., not in a coma, not a young child, not severely intellectually disabled.

¹⁸ I view diminished and undermined synonymously. McLeod and Sherwin use the former but I will mainly use the latter out of personal preference.

¹⁹ E.g., see McLeod and Sherwin, 260 (they say some people are able to manage the barriers they encounter).

²⁰ Which can for example interfere with the capacity to make an autonomous decision in the right mindset.

(2011), Mohanty (1984), and others. Feminist theorists, such as Mohanty, often emphasize the need to understand women from their own contexts, which includes engaging with their perspectives and avoiding forming generalizations about them in a way that is abstracted from their experiences. Chapter 2 is generally aligned with this idea. Other feminist theorists, like Bailey, consider how experiences should be considered but also theorized, for example with attention to structural harms. Chapter 3 will provide a similar critique of scholars' engagement with the reports of surrogates. More generally, feminist approaches to bioethics often employ a relational perspective. Relational approaches see individuals as interconnected, with their autonomy impacted by the relationships they have with others and with society more broadly.²¹ Some scholars have maintained that traditional approaches to autonomy are insufficient for capturing the concerns emerging in surrogacy arrangements. This is because surrogacy is by nature a relational practice, involving the interests of multiple people: the intended parents, the surrogate, and the child.²² Thus, this thesis will emphasize a relational approach to surrogacy which addresses surrogates' relationships with others—especially the intended parents—and the contexts from which surrogates experience and often manage autonomy-related threats.

_

²¹ E.g., see McLeod and Sherwin, 259. Relational approaches tend to be distinguished from traditional approaches, which consider persons as individuals without considering how they are situated within broader (e.g., oppressive) contexts.

²² E.g., see Fulfer. Sometimes others' interests are significant, such as the families/partners of the surrogates.

1. Surrogacy in The Canadian Context

Surrogacy is a kind of assisted human reproduction which has been regulated in Canada since 2004. Although surrogacy is becoming increasingly popular, there is limited knowledge of it in Canada, considering a lack of empirical research and, given the lack of case law in this area, legal uncertainty.²³ However, the studies published in the last three years remedy some empirical gaps, particularly on the experiences of parties to surrogacy agreements. Moreover, the laws on surrogacy have been somewhat clarified in the last few years, as the courts have considered more cases involving surrogacy and as regulations on surrogacy have been implemented as well as amended. Thus, surrogacy is in certain respects an unexplored, but developing, issue in Canada.

In this chapter, I will first introduce the basics of surrogacy: what it is, what happens in surrogacy arrangements and who the involved parties are, and relevant key terms. I will then outline the legal and regulatory context of surrogacy.

1.1 Introducing Surrogacy

'Surrogacy' describes the process of a 'surrogate'—usually but not always someone who identifies as a woman—carrying a child to term with the goal of relinquishing custody to the 'intended parents.' Surrogacy can be domestic (where both parties reside in the same country) or transnational (where the surrogate is in a different country than the intended parents); as my thesis focuses on Canada, I will be predominately discussing the former.²⁴ Surrogates can be gestational or traditional, the former which means that the child is not the surrogate's genetic

²³ E.g., see Lepine, 3. It is unclear how courts would consider the interests of the child and of surrogate if they conflict.

²⁴ It seems that most of the intended parents for surrogates in Canada are residents of Canada (e.g., see Yee et al. 2019, 252) so I will be mostly referring to domestic surrogacy arrangements where both the surrogate and intended parents reside in Canada. However, some of the surrogates represented in the studies have intended parents living abroad. I am only discussing surrogates residing in Canada, regardless of whether their intended parents are residing in Canada as well.

offspring (the ovum is contributed by a donor, usually an intended parent). As gestational surrogacy is more common in Canada I will focus on this kind of surrogacy in my thesis.

A 'surrogacy arrangement' I understand as similar to but broader than a 'surrogacy agreement,' which I view as synonymous with surrogacy contracts. Surrogacy agreements are consented to by the parties belonging to the surrogacy arrangement: the surrogate and intended parents. Once the agreement is signed the arrangement commences and ends shortly after the birth of the child²⁵ (the exact time is variable based on the terms of the agreement²⁶). Overall, the surrogacy arrangement describes the relationship between the surrogate and the intended parents and the obligations they have toward each other. In this thesis I will discuss the complexity of these arrangements: they are lengthy, dynamic, and variable; some arrangements are marred by conflict, whereas others are positive and relatively uneventful.

In this thesis, my focus will be on surrogacy arrangements and not agreements, although I will refer to the latter throughout the thesis. One reason for this is the empirical research, while sparse, tends to address the experiences of surrogates within their arrangements, rather than contractual issues. With the exception of the study by Carsley (2021), little information has been made available as to the experiences of surrogates during the contract stage, such as the kinds of information surrogates access. Surrogacy agreements also foremostly are about informed consent which is crucial to the autonomy of surrogates—and hence will be discussed at different points in this thesis—but brings up a host of issues I do not have the space to discuss.²⁷ While I will at times refer to informed consent, including how it can be improved, my focus will be more on the experiences of surrogates within arrangements more broadly.

²⁵ For simplicity, I will often refer to 'the interests of the child' instead of the 'interests of the fetus,' since whether and when fetuses have interests is morally contentious.

²⁶ Usually one week, but sometimes obligations persist (e.g., some intended parents want the child to be breastfed).

²⁷ E.g., some scholars have considered the question of whether surrogates can genuinely consent to surrogacy agreements, considering the potential for unforeseen harm, etc. This is beyond the scope of this thesis.

The Demographics of Surrogates and Intended Parents

As the commercialization of surrogacy is prohibited in Canada, surrogates enter arrangements voluntarily, without the expectation or possibility of getting paid for their efforts.²⁸ Individuals become surrogates for various reasons, such as an interest in helping family and friends (or strangers) experiencing infertility, an interest in becoming pregnant but not having children of their own, an interest compensating for a loss they experienced (e.g., a miscarriage), or an interest in achieving a sense of personal fulfillment.²⁹ Not everyone can become a surrogate in Canada, however: surrogates have to be at least twenty-one years of age.³⁰

Surrogates in Canada tend to be middle-class, educated, and white, with children of their own.³¹ While scholars often worry about surrogates being financially coerced into arrangements (i.e., due to experiencing poverty), this does not appear to be a concern in Canada, due to these factors and likely the fact commercialization is prohibited (thus vulnerable individuals are not incentivized by profit to enter arrangements).³² Moreover, surrogacy agencies typically prefer surrogates who are not obviously vulnerable: those who have financial security, those who have a stable home environment and strong support system, and those without serious physical and mental health issues.³³ While it is unclear how many surrogates are supported by surrogacy agencies, it seems that the vast majority are.³⁴

Surrogacy agencies match surrogates with intended parents, who pursue surrogacy for various reasons but mainly the fact they are experiencing infertility or are incapable of having

²⁸ See *AHRA*, 6(1), 6(2), and 6(3).

²⁹ Campbell, 36-7; Carsley (2021), 826.

³⁰ AHRA, 6(4).

³¹ Peng, 561; Yee et al (2020), e258. Tolendo and Zeiler, 167. It is recommended that surrogates have prior experiences with pregnancy to enhance their ability to provide informed consent (see Reilly 283-4).

³² There are some related concerns which could be addressed in a further paper, such as blurred lines between reimbursement and payment (e.g., see Carsley 2021, 828).

³³ E.g., see Surrogacy Canada Online, "Surrogate Mother Qualifications."

³⁴ E.g., see Yee et al. (2020), e258.

children of their own. Intended parents are usually heterosexual couples but gay couples—especially but not exclusively men—do enter surrogacy arrangements, and increasingly so.³⁵
While many intended parents are couples, some are single.³⁶ As will be discussed in this thesis, the relationship between surrogates and intended parents is often complicated.

Insight into the Surrogacy Pathway

The point from the beginning to end of a surrogacy arrangement can be described as the 'surrogacy pathway.' Before an arrangement begins, surrogates and intended parents typically contact a surrogacy agency for assistance.³⁷ Prospective surrogates apply to an agency; if they are deemed suitable as surrogates (upon undergoing a consultation and screening process), they will be matched with potential intended parents. Once the parties communicate, provided both want to continue with the arrangement, the surrogate undergoes psychological and medical screening. Then, the parties, with the assistance of their attorneys (one for each party),³⁸ draft and negotiate the terms of the surrogacy agreement. Once the agreement is signed by the parties the arrangement (and the surrogacy pathway) begins.

To be considered valid—that is, to be recognized by the courts—surrogacy agreements must meet certain requirements, one being they must be produced in writing.³⁹ Furthermore, certain provisions must be included: agreements must identify the parties to the agreement (the surrogate and intended parents) and express intended parentage (that the surrogate will relinquish custody to the intended parents).⁴⁰ Other provisions are optional (i.e., a surrogacy agreement can be 'valid' even without these provisions) and depend on the interests and expectations of the

³⁵ Fantus (2020), 804.

³⁶ For simplicity I will refer to them plurally, as 'intended parents.'

³⁷ Using a surrogacy agency is not required though. E.g., see Yee et al. (2020), e258.

³⁸ Who ensure the agreement is legally valid and that the interests of the parties to the agreement are represented contractually. Though the attorneys are usually all paid for by the intended parents the surrogate gets their own independent counsel.

³⁹ E.g., see *CLRA*, 10(3).

⁴⁰ CLRA, s. 10, 11.

parties.⁴¹ Nonetheless, provisions tend to address: financial matters, such as what expenses the surrogate will be reimbursed for; medical issues, such as the medical interventions the surrogate will undergo; expectations regarding confidentiality, like what medical information will be shared between parties; the risks associated with surrogacy and the surrogate pregnancy; and actions to be taken if there is a breach in the agreement.⁴²

After the agreement is signed, surrogates undergo various measures which facilitate and support the surrogate pregnancy, such as: in vitro fertilization (IVF), where an ovum contributed by an intended parent (or donor) is combined with sperm from an intended parent (or donor) and fertilized in a lab, in turn creating an embryo; embryonic implantation, where embryos are implanted into the surrogate's uterus; and medications (e.g., hormonal injections) which improve the chance of successful embryonic implantation.⁴³

The rest of the arrangement depends on the expectations of the parties, as indicated in the agreement. Some surrogate-intended parents' relationships are very close, with regular contact between them; others are more distant. Likewise, some surrogates are quite independent, while others are not (some live with their intended parents and are 'micro-managed' by them). In many arrangements intended parents expect surrogates to modify their lifestyles, whether this means not drinking, eating certain foods and taking vitamins, restricting travel, and so on.⁴⁴

Intended parents often attempt to manage various medical matters emerging in the arrangement, expecting surrogates to be transparent about their medical information (effectively 'waiving their right to confidentiality'), expecting to accompany surrogates at their medical appointments, and expecting the surrogates to undergo certain medical procedures relating to the

⁴¹ E.g., see Lepine. And as discussed, these provisions are not legally enforceable.

⁴² Lepine, 9.

⁴³ E.g., see Teman, 17; Ziff, 513-4.

⁴⁴ E.g., see Carsley (2021), Lepine, 5

pregnancy, such as fetal screening, and relating to complications (e.g., abortion in certain circumstances). Although these expectations are normally indicated in surrogacy agreements, surrogates have the right to change their mind: they are not legally bound to these provisions, as they are not legally enforceable. Moreover, surrogates have the right to informed consent, with respect to medical procedures and reproductive technologies, and the right to privacy with respect to their medical information. These rights make it highly unlikely that provisions around medical decisions and confidentiality would ever be legally enforceable.

1.2 Surrogacy: The Legal and Regulatory Context

The *Assisted Human Reproduction Act* (henceforth the '*AHRA*'), which oversees assisted reproduction and the use of associated technologies in Canada, received royal assent in 2004, before which point surrogacy was unregulated. Prior to the implementation of the *AHRA*, the Government of Canada organized a commission—the Royal Commission on New Reproductive Technologies—to investigate the "social, ethical, health, research, legal and economic implications" of what were at the time emerging reproductive technologies.⁴⁹ In 1993, the commission published their final report, titled 'Proceed with Care,' which formed the basis of what would become the *AHRA*. ⁵⁰ A primary recommendation of this report was to prohibit the commercialization of assisted reproductive technologies, and by extension surrogacy, in order to prevent concerns related to commodification and exploitation.⁵¹

Some principles of the AHRA pertain to surrogates and particularly autonomy-related

⁴⁵ None of the provisions are really legally enforceable as surrogacy agreements are not legally enforceable in Canada.

⁴⁶ The *AHRA*, principle 2d, states: "the principle of free and informed consent must be promoted and applied as a fundamental condition of the use of human reproductive technologies."

⁴⁷ Reiley, 484. These rights are ensured through the Charter of Rights and Freedoms and medical regulations.

⁴⁸ Lepine, 3.

⁴⁹ See Privy Council Office, "Proceed with Care."

⁵⁰ Campbell, 44-5. See also: Carsley (2021), 814-5.

⁵¹ See Privy Council Office, "Proceed with Care." See also: Campbell, 44-5; Carsley (2021), 814-5.

concerns: the second principle recognizes the importance of facilitating "human health, safety, dignity and rights" as assisted reproduction is pursued and researched;⁵² the third principle emphasizes that assisted reproduction disproportionately impacts women, whose health and wellbeing must therefore be protected;⁵³ the fourth principle states that "the principle of free and informed consent" must be employed as assisted reproductive technologies are utilized;⁵⁴ and the sixth principle emphasizes the need to prohibit the commercialization of assisted reproduction because of related "health and ethical concerns," such as the concern of exploitation.⁵⁵

Besides the principles, two sections of the *AHRA* are applicable to surrogacy: section 6, which outlines prohibitions around surrogacy, and section 12, which oversees reimbursements. Section 6(1) stipulates that surrogates cannot be paid for their services and individuals cannot offer to pay them or advertise that they will do so. Sections 6(2) and 6(3) prohibit the compensation of individuals (and organizations) who facilitate surrogacy arrangements. ⁵⁶ Section 6(4) requires individuals to not encourage women to become surrogates if they are under twenty-one years of age (or perceived as such), and to not assist them with medical procedures relating to surrogacy. Finally, section 6(5) specifies that these provisions do not impact the validity of surrogacy agreements under provincial law, meaning that provinces are responsible for determining their validity and enforcing them. ⁵⁷

Although section 6 of the *AHRA* stipulates that surrogates cannot be directly paid for their services, section 12 allows surrogates to be reimbursed for expenses relating to the surrogacy

-

⁵² AHRA, 2(b).

⁵³ AHRA, 2(c).

⁵⁴ AHRA, 2(d).

⁵⁵ AHRA, 2(f). Other principles missing in this list: The first principle states that the "health and wellbeing" of children born through assisted reproduction must be prioritized as assisted reproductive technology is utilized (which raises the question of how surrogates' interests are considered given this prioritization of children's interests). The fifth principle requires that individuals pursuing assisted reproduction are not discriminated against (e.g., due to sexual orientation). The last principle suggests the importance of protecting "human individuality and diversity," as well as the "integrity of the genome."

⁵⁶ Offers to pay them are also prohibited, per the *AHRA*.

⁵⁷ Nelson, 125.

arrangement. Section 12 requires, for reimbursements to be legally accepted, that: receipts must be provided, documenting the expenses incurred,⁵⁸ and surrogates must not be reimbursed for "loss of work-related income," unless the mother cannot work because of the pregnancy, as certified by a qualified medical professional.⁵⁹ Note that there is no guarantee that surrogates will be reimbursed for their services, although they typically are.⁶⁰

Health Canada published the *Reimbursement Related to Assisted Human Reproduction Regulations* in 2020, years after the *AHRA* was implemented. These regulations specify the kinds of reimbursements which are considered acceptable under the Act: expenditures related to travel, pets, counselling and legal services, insurance, groceries, maternity clothes, services related to the pregnancy, and so on. Furthermore, the regulations indicate how the expenses to be reimbursed must be documented: receipts must be provided which record the expenses and are dated and signed, with some exceptions. In addition to a guidance document, which outlines these requirements, Health Canada has produced a policy document, "Compliance and enforcement policy for the *Assisted Human Reproduction Act* (POL-0100)," which outlines policies relating to the enforcement of the Act more broadly.

While many, including parties to surrogacy agreements, find Health Canada's regulations and guidance helpful, the regulations have still invited criticism. For example, some believe the documents are not sufficiently informative. The regulations on reimbursements, and the related guidance document, clarify the broad categories of expenses which are acceptable to reimburse,

_

⁵⁸ AHRA, 12(2).

⁵⁹ AHRA, 12(3).

⁶⁰ The language of the *AHRA* is that reimbursements are allowed, but there is no indication they are necessary. E.g., see Carsley, 2021, 812; Lepine 8. While surrogates can sue if they are not reimbursed, it is often not worth it (see Carsley 2021, 829). ⁶¹ See Nelson; Carsely, 821: Health Canada did not produce regulations for section 12 of the Act (which stipulates that reimbursements must follow 'the regulations') for years, making the section unenforceable.

⁶² Reimbursement Related to Assisted Human Reproduction Regulations, s. 4.

⁶³ ibid, s. 6-10.

⁶⁴ See "Compliance and Enforcement Policy for the Assisted Human Reproduction Act (POL-0100)" in the bibliography.

but do not advise how to determine whether a particular expense is reasonable. This can be problematic given ambiguity over whether an expenditure is necessary and therefore deserving of reimbursement (e.g., consider a surrogate who wants 'designer maternity clothes').⁶⁵

Overall, failure to abide by the *AHRA*'s provisions, as well as the aforementioned regulations, can lead to jail time (of a maximum of ten years) and fines (of a maximum of five hundred thousand). Although surrogacy agencies are not themselves regulated (or licensed), they must abide by the *AHRA*'s provisions. In *Rv. Picard and Canadian Fertility Consulting Ltd*, the owner of a surrogacy agency, Leia Picard, was fined sixty thousand dollars for contravening the *AHRA*. In particular, an RCMP investigation found that Picard paid surrogates for their efforts and accepted compensation for her surrogacy services, violating section 6 of the *AHRA*. Admittedly, *Rv. Picard* was the only case of the *AHRA* being enforced, which has incited criticism from legal scholars, although it demonstrates the potential for individuals and organizations to be prosecuted under the Act.

Provincial Laws on Surrogacy

While the *AHRA* oversees criminal prohibitions around surrogacy, contract law and family law are applicable to surrogacy arrangements—in particular, surrogacy agreements—⁶⁹ and are under provincial (and territorial) jurisdiction.⁷⁰ In Ontario, the *Children's Law Reform Act* (henceforth, '*CLRA*') oversees surrogacy agreements. In the *CLRA*, surrogacy is explicitly mentioned in sections 10 and 11. Section 10(1) requires that surrogacy agreements be in writing

⁶⁶ AHRA, sections 60-61; Carsley (2021), 812. See also: Nelson.

⁶⁵ Carsley (2021), 826-8.

⁶⁷ R v. Picard and Canadian Fertility Consulting Ltd (this case was unreported so is not cited in the case law section of the bibliography, but you can find it in "R v Picard and Canadian Fertility Consulting Ltd: Agreed Statement of Facts," in the secondary sources section of the bibliography.

⁶⁸ See "R. v. Picard and Canadian Fertility Consulting Ltd" in the bibliography.

Moreover, Picard paid women for their ovum donations, contravening section 7 of the Act.

⁶⁹ In the U.S. they tend to be called contracts, but in Canada they are often called agreements.

⁷⁰ E.g., see Nelson.

and that they specify intended parentage: that the intended parents, and not the surrogate, will gain custody of the child. Section 10(2) indicates that surrogacy agreements must be written prior to the birth of the child; that each party (the surrogate and intended parents) must receive legal advice prior to forming the agreement; and that the child "is conceived through assisted reproduction." Moreover, the *CLRA* stipulates that, provided the surrogacy agreement is valid,⁷¹ the intended parents will be legally recognized as parents of the child and the surrogate will not be.⁷² However, both surrogates and intended parents are considered parents of the child until seven days following birth,⁷³ unless the agreement specifies otherwise.⁷⁴

The last of the *CLRA*'s provisions on surrogacy indicate the enforceability of surrogacy agreements, stating they are "unenforceable in law, but may be used as evidence" which documents one's intent to parent the child (or not). This provision reflects the common understanding of surrogacy agreements in Canada: that they are not legally enforceable, although they are often recognized as expressing intent. This is clear considering provincial case law. For provincial cases involving surrogacy, most have taken place in Ontario, British Columbia, Alberta, and Quebec. Usually such cases concern custody disputes. While these cases are often straightforward, some of them are complicated. Consider *K.B. v M.S.B. and N.B.B.* In this case, which was advanced to the Supreme Court of British Columbia, the claimant, K.B., sought custody over the child they brought to term while a surrogate. Complicating matters, the child

-

⁷¹ If the above criteria is not met the agreement may not be considered valid.

⁷² CLRA, 10(3).

⁷³ They all "share in the rights and responsibilities" of parenting and technically custody does not come into effect until after birth. *CLRA*, 10(5).

⁷⁴ CLRA, 10(5).

⁷⁵ CLRA, 10(9).

⁷⁶ While cases on surrogacy usually relate to custody issues, monetary issues are also relevant. Interestingly, the courts have awarded damages to support a future surrogacy arrangement in the case of a loss of reproductive capacity, per *Wilhelmson v Dumma*, 2017 BCSC 616.

⁷⁷ E.g., just a matter of the child being the biological offspring of someone or a matter of adhering to the contract.

⁷⁸ K.B. v. M.S.B., 2021 BCSC 1283.

was their biological offspring. Ultimately, the court dismissed K.B.'s application, viewing it contrary to the best interests of the child.

Often legal cases on surrogacy fixate on the question of whether a surrogacy agreement is valid. For instance, in C.P.B. v L.M.B, 79 a married couple sought to be recognized as the legal parents of a child born through surrogacy. Although the claimants entered into a surrogacy arrangement, there was found to be no valid surrogacy agreement made in this case. As such, the claimants' application was denied by the Saskatchewan courts. In Ontario, similar cases have been undertaken, which show how the CLRA has been interpreted and enforced by the courts. In M.L. v. J.C, 80 for example, it was found that there was no valid surrogacy agreement, per the CLRA: there was no written agreement and parties to the surrogacy arrangement did not consult legal advice and, as such, both parties were granted custody of the child.

The Surrogacy Context in Canada

In this chapter I introduced surrogacy in Canada, overviewing the nature of surrogacy arrangements and the processes and procedures involved. As well, I introduced the legal and regulatory frameworks which form the context underpinning surrogacy arrangements in Canada.

⁷⁹ *C.P.B. v. L.M.B.*, 2019 SKQB 306. ⁸⁰ *M.L. v. J.C.*, 2017 ONSC 7179.

2. What Do the Studies Suggest About the Autonomy of Surrogates?

In this section, I will consider surrogacy arrangements with reference to the recent empirical studies, with the view of determining whether it is fair to say that the autonomy of surrogates in Canada is undermined by virtue of their surrogacy arrangements. Many scholars have examined this issue in some sense, by discussing issues relating to commodification and exploitation which are said to reduce autonomy in certain ways. However, there has been little engagement with these recent studies and especially their implications with regards to autonomy. This chapter will therefore respond to some problems in the existing literature, including longstanding theoretical concerns—about surrogates lacking autonomy, being oppressed and degraded—which have not been substantiated by surrogates' experiences.

I will first highlight autonomy-related threats which tend to manifest in surrogacy arrangements: loss of control, pressure, and unexpected harm. I will then discuss how, per the studies, surrogacy arrangements are complicated and so are the experiences of surrogates themselves. The autonomy-related threats do not emerge in isolation: how they impact surrogates depends on contextual factors, such as the relationship between surrogates and intended parents. Moreover, many surrogates are able to manage the autonomy-related threats, "remaining agential actors" in the process. ⁸² Overall, I will show how scholars should be hesitant to generalize about the experiences of surrogates, while demonstrating that surrogacy arrangements are potentially, but not necessarily, autonomy undermining.

⁸¹ E.g., see Fulfer. See also NeJaime et al.

⁸² Ziff, 511.

2.1 Describing the Threats to Autonomy

In this section, I will describe the threats to autonomy identified in leading studies focusing on the experiences of surrogates. I note that I will not be able to examine all the autonomy-related concerns relating to surrogacy arrangements; some of these will be covered in the next chapters. The threats I will discuss—loss of control, external pressure, and unexpected harm—at times overlap and are mutually reinforcing. For example, unexpected harm and external pressure sometimes result in a loss of control, which can in turn reduce one's capacity to deal with the threats they encounter. After describing these threats, I will discuss their significance and then examine the discussed studies from a relational perspective.

Loss of Control

A loss of control may reflect a reduced ability for someone to exercise their autonomy due to external factors (e.g., if they have fewer options available to them), but it can also be a subjective feeling: someone may feel a loss of control over their body if their boundaries are crossed (e.g., if others do not respect their need for privacy). Someone may feel a loss of control over their body if their boundaries are crossed (e.g., if others do not respect their need for privacy). Someone may feel a loss of control over their body if their boundaries are crossed (e.g., if others do not respect their need for privacy). Someone may feel a loss of control over their body if their boundaries are crossed (e.g., if others do not respect their need for privacy). Someone may feel a loss of control or lose their autonomous interests are crossed (e.g., if others do not respect their need for privacy). Someone may feel a loss of control or lose their autonomous interests are crossed (e.g., if others do not respect their need for privacy). Someone may feel a loss of control or lose their autonomous interests are crossed (e.g., if others do not respect their need for privacy). Someone may feel a loss of control or lose their autonomous interests are crossed (e.g., if others do not respect their need for privacy). Someone may feel a loss of control or lose their autonomous interests are crossed (e.g., if others do not respect their need for privacy). Someone may feel a loss of control or lose their autonomous decisions, by for example lowering the confidence they have in their decisions (they may be unsure whether their decisions align with their autonomous interests) and reducing their ability to act on them (they may feel unable to assert control or lose the motivation to do so, out of hopelessness or impaired self-esteem).

Page 19 of 90

-

⁸³ These two explanations reflect different theories of autonomy. Theorists like Oshana and Cudd (who will be discussed in chapter 3) attend to external factors but McLeod and Sherwin to an extent discuss more 'internal properties' like whether individuals feel they can exercise their autonomy.

⁸⁴ E.g., see McLeod and Sherwin.

Surrogates tend to experience a loss of control—in different ways and for different reasons—to the extent that some find it "inherent" to surrogacy. Some Many surrogates feel a loss of control due to the pregnancy itself. Pregnancy and childbirth often come with "significant hormonal, biological, and physiological changes" which may be difficult to anticipate. These changes, as well as possible medical complications, can result in pregnant individuals feeling a loss of control over their bodies. With surrogacy these issues are often more pronounced. Some surrogates have reported feeling that their bodies were 'invaded' by the hormones they received (as part of the surrogate pregnancy), which they referred to as 'unnatural.' This 'invasion' may signify a loss of control in the sense surrogates can feel as though their bodies are controlled by these 'strangers' (the hormones), which they have limited control over. Some surrogates have described this phenomenon as a matter of their bodies being 'overpowered' and their minds being 'taken over,' with the effects of the hormones lasting throughout the surrogacy.

Surrogates have expressed their feeling that their bodies are 'not theirs'—or at least that there is an "artificial" component of their body they have no control over—⁹⁰ because of the different 'bodily intrusions' they face, whether the 'invaders' (the hormones), the child that is 'not theirs,' or the various medical interventions they are subjected to.⁹¹ For the last concern, scholars have taken issue with the medicalization and "technological colonization" of women's bodies, and have applied this concern to surrogacy.⁹² This is roughly the idea that the medical procedures and reproductive technologies involved in surrogacy "fragment women's bodies and

_

⁸⁵ Ziff 2021, 516. See also Dodds and Jones.

⁸⁶ Canner, 137.

⁸⁷ Teman, 42.

⁸⁸ Ibid.

⁸⁹ Teman, 42.

⁹⁰ Teman, 86-7, 98.

⁹¹ E.g., see Teman, 98.

⁹² Teman, 32.

alienate women from their selves."⁹³ This concern has been confirmed by studies: Ziff (2021) found that surrogates express a loss of control stemming from this medicalization, "resulting in stigma and doubt about one's own body."⁹⁴

Thus, while individuals can experience a loss of control due to pregnancy or childbirth in general, surrogates often suffer an even greater loss of control. Compounding these issues, in a regular pregnancy "no one is controlling your life," whereas in a surrogate pregnancy surrogates have obligations toward the intended parents and the surrogacy agreement. 95 While pregnant individuals are normally expected to adjust their behaviours in order to support the health of their child, whether they do so is ultimately their choice. ⁹⁶ However, in a surrogate pregnancy, surrogates are expected to attend to the interests of the child and the intended parents which can lead to a loss of control. As Payne et al. (2020) reveals, some intended parents can be quite controlling: "In some cases, physical proximity and frequent contact were used as a means to control the surrogate (diet, exercise, etc.), especially in cases where she was living together with the intended parents or in-laws."97 In such cases, surrogates are not only controlled by the provisions of the surrogacy agreement but are also 'micro-managed,' with intended parents attempting to control various components of the surrogacy, from the "medical aspects" to the surrogate's lifestyle, such as features of their house (e.g., an intended couple expected the surrogate to use two different dishwashers for religious reasons) and where they obtain groceries (another insisted on consuming only organic food obtained from Whole Foods).⁹⁹

The control intended parents exert onto the surrogate can be overbearing, with one

_

⁹³ Teman, 101.

⁹⁴ Ziff, 521.

⁹⁵ Teman, 100.

⁹⁶ Of course, this can get complicated, for example if they have a controlling partner.

⁹⁷ Payne et al., 186.

⁹⁸ Payne et al., 185-6.

⁹⁹ Carsley (2021), 826.

surrogate revealing they felt "colonized" by an intended parent, ¹⁰⁰ as if they were a "walking belly" (treated not as a human but akin to a 'baby factory') which was "occupied" and was being "taken over" by both the intended parents and the child. ¹⁰¹ As the surrogate's intended parents frequently tried to control her, she lost her sense of independence and the control she had over her life prior to entering the arrangement. ¹⁰² Moreover, she lost the ability to assert herself, feeling "powerless" and defeated, as if she had no choice but to appease the intended parents. ¹⁰³ Although many surrogates experience a loss of control, sometimes which is severe, many surrogates are able to manage this issue or are otherwise relatively unaffected by it. ¹⁰⁴

External Pressure

In general, pressure can undermine autonomy if it obstructs an individual's ability to make an autonomous decision. Pressure is most detrimental when it is coercive: when in compelling individuals to change their decisions, behaviours, or their understanding of what their autonomous interests are. However, pressure can manifest in more subtle ways which can also undermine autonomy. For example, pressure can undermine an agent's confidence in their decisions, potentially leading to them being unsure about what their autonomous interests are. In medical settings, pressure can originate from family members and doctors, who often have ideas of what is in the patient's best interest which can conflict with the patient's own wishes.

Pressure is commonly cited as a concern with respect to surrogacy arrangements, including in Canada. The studies reveal that pressure manifests in various ways, varying from

¹⁰¹ Teman, 97.

Page 22 of 90

¹⁰⁰ Teman, 96.

¹⁰² Teman, 97.

¹⁰³ Teman, 97.

¹⁰⁴ Teman, 103. See also: Ziff. I will return to this idea in the next two chapters.

¹⁰⁵ E.g., see McLeod and Sherwin.

¹⁰⁶ E.g., see Ho (2008).

obvious (e.g., intended parents becoming extremely overbearing¹⁰⁷), to explicit (e.g., intended parents telling a surrogate to abort the fetus or raise the child themselves¹⁰⁸), and to more subtle (e.g., feeling bound to the surrogacy contract). Although surrogacy contracts are not per se legally binding, surrogates often feel pressure to adhere to them, which can detriment their autonomy. As one American scholar, Laufer-Ukeles, writes:¹⁰⁹

[E]ven if [the provisions of a contract] might be deemed unenforceable if enforced, such a potential result does not change the pressures and stress a surrogate feels to comply with the contract due to uncertainty, and any inability to afford legal fees.

Carsley (2021) reiterates these concerns. In talking with fertility lawyers practising in Canada,

Carsley found that there is no guarantee surrogates will be reimbursed for their services and little
room for recourse if they are not. 110 Thus, if there is a breach in the contract (e.g., because of
surrogates failing to abide by certain provisions or leaving their arrangement) surrogates may
find themselves in a financially precarious position, creating pressure to adhere to the contract. 111

Surrogates usually want to adhere to the contract, either because of the above considerations or because they want to fulfill their obligations toward the intended parents. Consider one surrogate's report that "It hurt [getting hormonal injections] and the meds suck and you're just sore and you can't do anything about it...You don't want to screw it up. It's a little bit of pressure." This 'pressure' was a common theme in Ziff's interviews, which she attributes to the reality that "the whole pregnancy is contingent on them doing their part

¹⁰⁷ There are many examples of this but one example is found here: Ziff, 260.

¹⁰⁸ E.g., see Drabiak-Syed, 559. This is a real case which happened in Canada, though the surrogate aborted the fetus.

¹⁰⁹ Laufer-Ukeles, 43.

¹¹⁰ Carsley (2021), 829. See also Lepine, 8. Surrogates can technically sue intended parents in the case of a breach of contract (i.e., if they are not properly reimbursed for their efforts), but there is a question of whether the surrogates would afford the cost of litigation and whether pursuing it would be worth it; often the answer is no.

¹¹¹ Ibid. ¹¹² Ziff, 518.

correctly."¹¹³ According to the reports of surrogates in Ziff's study, much of this pressure has to do with feeling bad for the intended parents and not wanting to disappoint them.¹¹⁴ For example, one surrogate reported enduring "significant medical complications"—and even an ectopic pregnancy—but continued with the arrangement in part because she felt bad that the intended parents incurred substantial costs without reaching their goal of having a child.¹¹⁵

In such cases, there is a question of whether surrogates are autonomously choosing to adhere to the contract, considering the substantial pressure they face to 'play their part.' ¹¹⁶

Clearly, this kind of pressure is problematic as it curtails the surrogate's ability to make autonomous decisions during the surrogacy pathway. As scholars have observed, surrogates' needs may change during the surrogacy pathway and are therefore not always represented within surrogacy contracts. ¹¹⁷ Regardless of the contract's provisions—which may specify that the surrogate 'waives their right to confidentiality' and vows to undergo certain medical procedures—¹¹⁸ surrogates have the right to make their own decisions about their body and have the right to change their mind. ¹¹⁹ However, if they are pressured to adhere to the contract, they may not be able to exercise these rights and, more broadly, their autonomous interests. ¹²⁰

Surrogates and intended parents commonly have conflicting interests and values; in such cases, pressure is more likely to emerge as an issue.¹²¹ Many surrogates are 'pushed' by their intended parents into certain decisions which may, and often do, misalign with their autonomous interests. In general, a potential concern is that intended parents, and sometimes medical

¹¹³ Ziff, 518-519.

¹¹⁴ Ziff, 520-1.

¹¹⁵ Ziff, 520.

¹¹⁶ E.g., see Gomez et al.

¹¹⁷ E.g., see Carsley (2021), 832.

¹¹⁸ Drabiak-Syed; Lepine; Laufer-Ukeles.

¹¹⁹ E.g., see Reilly, 484.

 $^{^{120}\,\}mathrm{E.g.},$ see Laufer-Ukeles, Drabiak-Syed.

¹²¹ E.g., see Yee et al 2020, Carsley (2021). see also Ho (2008).

professionals, are foremostly concerned with the welfare of the fetus (as well as their own interests), which can be in tension with interests of the surrogate. ¹²² It may be in the interests of the surrogate to exit a surrogacy arrangement—some experience severe psychological and physical harm, whether because of the surrogate pregnancy or because of conflicts in the arrangement—when the intended parents' priority (and what is likely perceived as in the child's best interests) is to ensure the fetus is carried to term. It is unclear what would happen if a surrogate wanted to abort the fetus to the objections of the intended parents, ¹²³ but a similarly extreme case of conflict between a surrogate and their intended parents occurred in British Columbia. The intended parents insisted that the surrogate abort the child or that she would have to raise the child herself. The surrogate adamantly refused but ultimately decided to undergo an abortion, raising the question of whether this decision was aligned with her autonomous interests or whether she underwent the abortion because of pressure from the intended parents. ¹²⁴

As can be inferred from this case, pressure from intended parents can be explicit: they often tell their surrogates to make certain medical decisions or to modify their lifestyle to suit their preferences. While lifestyle modifications and medical interventions are standard to surrogacy arrangements, many surrogates feel that they have no choice but to appease the expectations of intended parents, which can be demanding and conflict with the surrogate's usual preferences. This is an example of the concerns relating to control overlapping with the concerns with respect to pressure. When intended parents attempt to control various aspects of the surrogacy, including the medical decisions, this can lead surrogates to feel "colonized"

¹²² Laufer-Ukeles, 43, 50. This article is American, but this is a concern in Canada given the relevant laws put the interests of the

¹²³ Probably the interests of the surrogate would be prioritized given their bodily autonomy, but this is unclear (see Lepine, 4). See also: Reilly, 484.

¹²⁴ Drabiak-Syed, 559.

¹²⁵ Consider the examples in the 'loss of control' section.

¹²⁶ Payne et al., 185-6.

which can exasperate the pressure they already experience. 127 Thus, the pressure surrogates often face is complicated and can emerge in different ways throughout the arrangement. As discussed in this section, this pressure is potentially autonomy undermining.

Unexpected Harm

Broadly, wellbeing and autonomy are interrelated, with harm to one impacting the other. Individuals generally want to be in a state of good mental and physical health; physical and psychological harm frustrates this interest, while often making it difficult for individuals to exercise their autonomy, whether because they become less able to fulfill their interests (e.g., someone experiencing mental or physical issues may have less ability to pursue the activities they enjoy¹²⁸) or because they encounter barriers in forming autonomous decisions (e.g., psychological symptoms, such as stress, may impact one's judgements and their ability to be confident in their decision-making skills). Clearly, surrogacy arrangements are notable in the sense that they present harms but surrogates consent to arrangements despite the potential for harm (which is akin to patients consenting to surgery knowing about possible medical complications but weighing the risk against the benefit of the procedure). Surrogates tend to be aware of the general risks surrogacy presents as they often do their own research 129 and it is standard for them to be informed of possible psychological, medical, and physical complications during the signing of the surrogacy contract. 130 However, surrogates' autonomy can still be undermined if their wellbeing is harmed, and especially when this harm is unexpected.

Scholars and policymakers have for decades expressed concern about the physical and psychological effects of surrogacy. ¹³¹ While some of these concerns are overstated—such as the

¹²⁷ Teman, 96.

¹²⁸ E.g., someone with an illness might be bedridden and unable to enjoy their hobby of skydiving.

¹²⁹ E.g., see Fantus, Ziff. Screening and counselling can also help them know about the risks.

¹³⁰ This is standard but not really legally mandated. See Lepine 6.

¹³¹ E.g., see Reilly, 485. See also: Teman.

worry that surrogates are harmed because of having to relinquish custody of the child—¹³² there are serious risks to surrogacy arrangements, including but not limited to: complications resulting from embryo implantation; psychological harm emerging from conflict within the arrangement; and risks associated with the pregnancy, such as complications leading to infertility and unpleasant reactions to hormonal injections.¹³³

Physical and psychological harms can be especially damaging to autonomy when they are unexpected, as one cannot properly consent to, or prepare to deal with, unexpected issues. Unexpected harm is common within surrogacy arrangements, largely due to unknown and difficult to predict factors such as whether the pregnancy will be viable, how painful the medical procedures will be for the surrogate, whether there will be conflict between parties to the agreement, how the surrogate's needs and feelings will change throughout the arrangement, ¹³⁴ and whether the surrogate will face medical complications.

In response to some of these concerns, the Canadian Medical Association recommends that surrogates not be first-time mothers, given the potential for unexpected harm amongst those who have not experienced pregnancy before. Although this recommendation is typically upheld, surrogates still encounter unexpected harms since surrogacy is "no regular pregnancy." Teman (2010) found, after observing and interviewing surrogates in Israel for ten years, that most experienced "unexpected suffering" despite being previously pregnant. As one surrogate said: "this pregnancy is making me experience all sorts of strange and unexpected

_

¹³² Though this concern is theoretically possible, studies on surrogacy in Canada have disputed this idea, finding that surrogates report either not having an emotional bond with the child or using conscious efforts to distance themselves from the child and ensure the bond does not interfere with the agreement (specifically, the eventual relinquishment of custody). See Teman; Ziff, 520; Payne et al., 186; Yee et al. (2020), 263; Peng, 562-3.

¹³³ Lepine, 6; Yee et al. (2020), e263.

¹³⁴ E.g., see Carsley (2021), 832.

¹³⁵ Reilly, 483-4.

¹³⁶ Teman, 39.

¹³⁷ Teman, 43; in Teman's research the average surrogate had 2.5 pregnancies before.

things with my body."¹³⁸ Others reported physical issues absent in their previous pregnancies, from significant weight gain to weakness, labour pains, and hair loss. ¹³⁹

Unexpected harm also results when surrogates are not screened and counselled before entering arrangements (which are intended to prevent harm by ensuring surrogacy is right for the individual). One surrogate Teman encountered sued her intended parents, claiming she should have not been a surrogate as she was not "psychologically prepared" for it and, as a result, experiences psychological trauma years later. While Teman maintains that such extreme complications are rare, it is worth addressing the unexpected psychological and emotional issues surrogates often grapple with. In Ziff's 2021 study, many surrogates recalled having unexpected feelings, from feeling grief to feeling a lack of control over their bodies. Although surrogates can anticipate the possibility of complications, many surrogates have had successful pregnancies before and therefore do not expect feeling grief or loss. As well, in addition to the unexpected physical harms accompanying an unsuccessful pregnancy (e.g., prolonged administration of hormonal injections and medication), surrogates in this position often feel as though they have failed their intended parents.

Such issues commonly arise in Canada as well. Yee et al. (2019) found that only 19.5 percent of surveyed surrogates reported their surrogacy experience was "as expected." While some surrogates reported being pleasantly surprised by their arrangement, many encountered unexpected challenges. Similarly, each surrogate Fantus (2020) interviewed "reported"

11

¹³⁸ Teman, 42.

¹³⁹ Teman, 41-42, 43.

¹⁴⁰ E.g., see Fantus.

¹⁴¹ Teman, 100. See also: 98-9.

¹⁴² Teman, 100.

¹⁴³ Ziff, 522.

¹⁴⁴ Ziff, 522.

¹⁴⁵ Yee et al. (2019), 252.

¹⁴⁶ Although Yee et al (2019) reports that surrogates faced unexpected challenges, they did not ask surrogates what these challenges were.

unanticipated health and/or mental health complications."147

Other harms, which are often unexpected, are attributed to the nature of the relationship between a surrogate and their intended parents. Surrogates can feel harmed by their arrangement if their expectations are not met. For example, some expect gratitude and appreciation for their work and otherwise feel objectified (e.g., like a 'vessel' and part of a 'business transaction'). 148 Surrogates can also be harmed because of unexpected conflict¹⁴⁹ or pressure within their arrangements. For example, one surrogate suffered from physical and psychological harm due to pressure from their intended parents: 150

At first, I felt like we were friends, and this was going to be a wonderful journey. As soon as I was pregnant, it was all about the baby [...] Furthermore, they put so much stress and anxiety on me that I ended up with hypertension and migraines throughout the pregnancy. In certain cases, surrogates can be impacted psychologically by the arrangement to the point it is clear they are unable to fulfill their autonomous interests. As one surrogate says: 151

I didn't go outside, and when I did, I acted like an escaped prisoner [...]. Most of the time I sat at home, rotting and wilting. I disconnected from all my friends... I felt choked, lonely, horrible frustration because my independence was taken from me.

This surrogate felt constricted by her arrangement, and specifically the intended parents, to the extent she adopted a lifestyle—of sitting at home—she did not want (thus becoming occupied with goods contrary to her autonomous interests) and which impeded her ability to pursue the goods she did want (e.g., her friendships). This surrogate also indicated her regret entering the

¹⁴⁷ Fantus, 2. Fantus does not describe what these complications are.

¹⁴⁸ Yee et al. (2020), e260-261; Payne et al., 189.

¹⁴⁹ This can include separation of the intended parents, death of one of them, breaches in the agreement, disputes about medical issues or custody, and so on (see Lepine).

¹⁵⁰ Yee et al. (2020), e260.

¹⁵¹ Teman, 97.

arrangement, suggesting that these harms (physical or autonomy-related) were unexpected. 152

While this surrogate encountered severe threats to her autonomy, including unexpected harm, Teman stresses that not all surrogates have experiences like this. ¹⁵³ Many surrogates do experience significant medical complications in a way that impacts their autonomy (e.g., some surrogates want to have children in the future but medical complications during their surrogate pregnancy renders them unable to do so, frustrating their desires ¹⁵⁴). However, many have relatively uneventful arrangements, sometimes because they do not encounter certain threats to begin with (whether conflict or medical complications). Other times, surrogates encounter significant physical and psychological harms but are relatively unaffected by them, either because they are able to manage the harms as they arise (e.g., they deal with emotional stressors by relying on a support network ¹⁵⁵) or they anticipate the harms in advance (i.e., prior to entering an arrangement ¹⁵⁶) and are thereby able to prepare for them and factor them into their decision making (ensuring that despite potential harms surrogacy aligns with their autonomous interests).

2.2 Making Sense of the Threats to Autonomy

I have discussed certain autonomy-related threats: loss of control, pressure, and unexpected harm. The studies I have examined highlight how common it is for surrogates to experience these threats. In certain ways, my analysis of these threats confirms the perspectives of existing scholarship: some scholars have expressed similar concerns, although often without connecting them to autonomy specifically.¹⁵⁷ The next question is how these threats are

¹⁵² Teman, 100. The surrogate said she should have never been approved as a surrogate.

¹⁵³ Teman,100.

¹⁵⁴ This is a concern. See Yee et al. (2020), e263.

¹⁵⁵ Yee et al. (2020), e261-3.

¹⁵⁶ Including in consent process, or even earlier

¹⁵⁷ E.g., Laufer-Ukeles discusses the pressure surrogates face and how this often undermines informed consent; Canner (see p. 137) discussed unexpected harm in relation to informed consent; Carsley (2021) and Teman discuss how some harms may be unexpected; Ziff and Teman address loss of control, as do Dodds and Jones.

significant. At this point, we can agree with Teman (2010) that surrogacy presents a "high stakes" situation, where much can 'go wrong.' Here, Teman is referring to harm in a broad sense, as encompassing psychological and physical harm. However, we can say the same about autonomy: surrogates face various autonomy-related threats, making surrogacy arrangements high-risk or potentially autonomy undermining.

As far as I am aware, these threats are the main autonomy-related concerns which emerge in surrogacy arrangements, as evidenced by the studies. It is important to stress that these threats do not entail that surrogacy arrangements are necessarily or inherently autonomy undermining. These threats are akin to risks or potential harms, as they impact surrogates differently, with some significantly impacted and others minimally, if at all. For example, one surrogate reported that their surrogacy experience was "amazing" and that they enjoyed being pregnant and attending medical appointments, ¹⁵⁹ which contradicts the experiences of other surrogates who feel a substantial loss of control because of their pregnancy or because of receiving medical interventions. ¹⁶⁰ Additionally, some surrogates do not report encountering unexpected harm, even indicating they felt "healthier" (while experiencing the surrogate pregnancy, in comparison to previous pregnancies) and that they "bloomed." ¹⁶¹ Some surrogates do perceive autonomy-related threats, like unexpected harm or a loss of control, but are able to manage them, by being proactive (e.g., learning about the medical procedures they receive) and by playing an active role in the surrogacy (e.g., such as utilizing the "best way" to self-administer hormonal injections). ¹⁶²

¹⁵⁸ Teman, 100.

¹⁵⁹ Many surrogates appear to just report good experiences. As Ziff says, loss of control often emerges but does not impact all surrogates: "sometimes, they do lament the lack of control they experienced" (513).

¹⁶⁰ E.g., see Teman, 41-3.

¹⁶¹ Teman, 43.

¹⁶² Ziff, 518-9.

Overall, whether the autonomy of surrogates is actually diminished would depend on various factors, such as their autonomous interests (e.g., some surrogates do not mind it when intended parents attend their medical appointments, whereas others consider this a significant infringement of privacy¹⁶³), how severe the threats are (e.g., some intended parents are controlling and even abusive; others avoid making surrogates uncomfortable¹⁶⁴), and whether the surrogates are able to adequately prevent or manage the threats (e.g., many report researching surrogacy long before entering an arrangement, which helps them prepare to manage them¹⁶⁵).

Yet it is worth highlighting that, while these threats manifest and impact surrogates differently, they are to an extent inherent in surrogacy arrangements. Unexpected harm would be worse depending on the complications which arise in the arrangement, as well as the adequacy of the consent process, but is always a possibility considering that it would be impossible to anticipate all potential harms prior to entering surrogacy arrangements. ¹⁶⁶ Similarly, pressure can vary depending on the nature of the relationship between the parties to the agreement, but it is always a potential concern considering surrogates are bound to surrogacy agreements (although not legally) and subject to the interests and sway of the intended parents. Finally, some surrogates may not be impacted by a loss of control but this is always a potential issue, due to the demands of surrogacy (e.g., the disconnect between the surrogate's body and the 'artificial body' of surrogacy¹⁶⁷) and the fact a loss of control may follow from the other threats, like pressure.

_

¹⁶³ E.g., one surrogate felt "embarrassed" when a male intended parent attended a checkup (Teman, 97); Others encouraged the intended parents to attend appointments such as ultrasounds (Teman, 92-3).

¹⁶⁴ Teman, 94; Payne et al.

¹⁶⁵ Ziff, 516.

¹⁶⁶ Pregnancy in general can be unpredictable.

¹⁶⁷ E.g., see Teman, 36-7.

2.3 When Autonomy Becomes Undermined: A Contextually Dependent Question

Whether surrogacy is potentially autonomy undermining is not very contentious: scholars have expressed autonomy-related concerns about surrogacy for decades, often viewing it as an oppressive and risky practice. The recent studies to an extent confirm these concerns as they highlight various autonomy-related threats which commonly emerge in surrogacy arrangements and, in turn, support the idea that surrogacy arrangements are potentially autonomy undermining. However, the specific ways in which surrogates experience and manage autonomy-related threats have been captured more recently, in the studies produced in the last few years. So far in this chapter I have identified and described the autonomy-related threats that surrogates encounter. In this section I will discuss another aspect of these studies: they emphasize the complicated and contextually dependent nature of surrogacy arrangements and, by extension, surrogates' experiences. The studies reveal that the autonomy-related threats do not operate in isolation and are not passively experienced by surrogates, who are often able to navigate the threats they encounter. As such, these studies disrupt the stereotype of them being powerless, oppressed, harmed, and lacking in autonomy and agency. 168

How Surrogates Experience and Manage Threats to Their Autonomy

Although it is often assumed that surrogacy arrangements are oppressive or harmful, surrogates in general do not feel this way. Some surrogates face serious infringements of autonomy—such as clear invasions of bodily autonomy and privacy—and feel more harmed than benefitted by their arrangement, but these experiences are identified by scholars as 'outliers.' 169 Studies have revealed that the majority of surrogates report being satisfied with, and not

¹⁶⁹ See Teman, 100; Ziff; Yee et al. (2020).

¹⁶⁸ Peng, 561-3. See also: Ziff; Mohanty.

regretting, their arrangement.¹⁷⁰ The satisfaction surrogates tend to experience may signal that their autonomous interests were fulfilled by their arrangements, or at least that they did not perceive being harmed in a significant way.

Studies have revealed that surrogates generally report entering agreements consensually¹⁷¹ and enthusiastically, often initiating agreements themselves because they want to assist individuals they see struggling with infertility.¹⁷² Moreover, many surrogates describe being empowered by their arrangements (e.g., being proud of their body's ability to support a pregnancy and feeling confident as a result; finding their decision to enter a surrogacy arrangement meaningful, rewarding, and enriching in supporting personal growth¹⁷³). Given that surrogates often, or even typically, do not feel their autonomy is impaired, this may suggest that they do not encounter significant autonomy-related threats (or that their arrangements align with their autonomous interests despite experiencing harm).¹⁷⁴

Surrogates are also often aware of autonomy-related issues, with some citing bodily autonomy as granting them the right to pursue surrogacy arrangements, some conducting their own research in order to determine whether they should become surrogates—and feeling empowered as a result—and others expressing opinions about the laws on surrogacy.

How Surrogates Manage the Threats They Encounter

For surrogates who experience threats to their autonomy, many are aware of them and tend to manage them. Teman (2010) found that surrogates are often involved in 'boundary

¹⁷² Toledano and Zeiler, 166-7.

¹⁷⁰ Yee et al. (2019); Yee et al. (2020), 252. See also: Teman.

¹⁷¹ Peng, 560, 567.

¹⁷³ Ziff, 262. See also: Yee et al. (2020), e263; Rozée et al.

¹⁷⁴ Note I will consider other explanations, of why surrogates do not feel harmed, in chapter 3.

¹⁷⁵ Yee et al. (2020), 260: some surrogates have reported they are fully consenting and autonomous; others have said surrogacy should be commercialized. Some of these issues were confirmed by Carsley (2021).

maintenance:' in "erecting red lines" to protect themselves against potential harms. ¹⁷⁶ In establishing boundaries with intended parents, surrogates assert control over their bodies (leading to them feeling empowered or at least not perceiving a lack of control) and reduce the likelihood of their autonomy being infringed upon (considering intended parents become equipped to recognize and therefore better respect the surrogates' boundaries).

Some studies have confirmed similar experiences among Canadian surrogates specifically. Yee et al. (2020) found that a significant component of surrogacy arrangements is 'boundary management.' Consider one surrogate's report: "I had to put the brakes on with this journey because she [intended mother] was becoming quite overbearing...I told her that she needed to trust me and be less invasive." Similarly, As Ziff (2021) reveals, many surrogates report becoming 'experts' on various topics relating to surrogacy, researching medical procedures (in turn improving their autonomous decision-making with respect to the procedures and the arrangement more broadly) and regarding medical interventions as a source of 'empowerment,' for example when they administer them themselves. Scholars often discuss 'medicalization' as a source of harm but Ziff finds that it "becomes a tool that allows them to remain agentic actors while pursing the at times contentious and alienating experience of surrogacy. As well, surrogates, including in Canada, utilize various cognitive techniques to distance themselves emotionally from the child they carry, avoiding possible harms attributed to attachment.

_

¹⁷⁶ Teman, 95. I will return to this in chapter 4.

¹⁷⁷ Yee et al. (2020), e260.

¹⁷⁸ E.g., see Ziff, 519: "Brenda developed expertise of the medications in surrogacy and gained new knowledge about her own body, expanding the realm of her medicalized understanding."

¹⁷⁹ E.g., see Ziff, 519: "While not her original plan, Lucy specifically links the embodied practice of giving herself the shots to feeling in control and having agency in the process, noting it made her feel better."

¹⁸⁰ Ziff, 511.

¹⁸¹ Yee et al. (2020), e263.

These reports of surrogates suggest a few salient points. These threats do not appear to impact surrogates equally; while a minority are significantly and adversely impacted, many are able to manage the threats they encounter. Some pre-emptively deal with the threats, either by becoming informed on surrogacy before entering arrangements (thereby preventing the potential for unexpected harm and ensuring the arrangement aligns with their autonomous interests) or by erecting boundaries to avoid potential issues (such as infringements of autonomy by intended parents). Others deal with the threats as they happen (e.g., many surrogates feel a loss of control and react accordingly; consider the surrogate who self-administers hormonal injections).

Finally, it is clear that even if surrogates are potentially harmed during their arrangements, they are not powerless and unwilling participants who passively respond to threats; rather, they are active participants in their contexts, who regularly resist the stressors they encounter. As Mohanty (1984) argues, it is important to engage with the realities of women who, even while oppressed, negotiate and resist oppressive forces.¹⁸²

As such, surrogates generally do not completely lack autonomy or agency, and many are able to participate in surrogacy arrangements without having their autonomy undermined in significant respects (and, for surrogates who find their arrangements empowering, their autonomy may be actually bolstered). As the studies indicate, agency and autonomy are complicated matters which vary within and between surrogacy arrangements—although the threats oftentimes enter arrangements and persist.

Contextualizing the Threats to Autonomy

I have discussed the threats to autonomy which surrogates tend to encounter. But it is important to recognize the social context of surrogacy arrangements, which are foremostly

¹⁸² Mohanty (see especially 344-345).

relationships between surrogates and intended parents or, as some surrogates say, a "shared experience." Surrogates do not face these threats in isolation. The nature of the relationship they have with intended parents, and more broadly the social context of surrogacy, has a bearing on the threats they are exposed to and whether they can manage them. Therefore, in this section I will discuss the social context surrogates navigate, and how it impacts their autonomy.

Traditional theories of autonomy, including ones commonly employed in medical law and ethics, consider individuals isolated from broader contexts, whether their relationships with others or how they navigate within, and are impacted by, broader society. ¹⁸⁴ Consider the assumption—which is prolific in medical law and ethics—that involving third parties in decision-making is detrimental to autonomy: that, for example, family members of patients threaten their autonomy by pressuring (or even coercing) them to make certain decisions about their medical care. ¹⁸⁵ Ho (2008) opposes this belief, arguing that involving multiple people in decision-making can actually enhance autonomy. Ho notes that viewing external pressure as usually a threat to autonomy often implies that the other parties involved in decision-making do not have the individual's interests in mind or have opposing values. ¹⁸⁶ However, individuals are often autonomous because of, and not merely in spite of, their connections with others. In medical contexts family members can motivate and empower patients to make decisions aligned with their autonomous interests. In a similar way, intended parents do not always adversely impact the autonomy of surrogates.

Studies have revealed that the experiences of surrogates—including how they encounter and respond to threats to their autonomy—can be better or worse depending on the relationship

-

¹⁸³ Toledano and Zeiler, 168.

¹⁸⁴ E.g., see McLeod and Sherwin, 260.

¹⁸⁵ Ho, 128.

¹⁸⁶ Ho, 128, 131.

they have with intended parents. Payne et al. (2020) reviewed several studies on surrogacy and was able to sort surrogacy arrangements into four categories. 'Open' arrangements are characterized by a fulfillment of expectations, a "high degree of satisfaction" for both parties, positive emotions such as joy, and a sense of friendship and "shared experiences." In such arrangements, the expectations of the parties align, leaving less room for conflict and unexpected harm (e.g., "disappointment or even grief" when surrogates' needs are not met). 189

Conversely, 'restricted' arrangements are characterized by low levels of surrogate satisfaction, with most regretting entering their arrangements, feeling forced into them, and having unmet needs and expectations (e.g., they are treated only as a "vessel" when they want more support and appreciation). 190 'Structured' arrangements are tightly controlled (i.e., with contractual regulations) but in them the expectations of each party are usually fulfilled because they are indicated in the surrogacy agreement. 191 Finally, 'enmeshed' arrangements involve "often unfulfilled or failed" expectations, largely because of one party adhering to the provisions of the contract and the other expecting more (i.e., that the arrangement is not just a 'business transaction'). 192 Based on Payne et al.'s typology, it is clear that surrogates' experiences, and how their autonomy is potentially undermined, depend on the nature of their arrangements.

Payne et al.'s contributions concern, but do not centre on, Canadian surrogates. Even so, Yee et al. (2020)'s study of Canadian surrogates corroborates their findings. Per this study, "incongruent expectations" between the parties are a source of conflict which contributes to a negative experience for the surrogates. ¹⁹³ Consider one surrogate's assertion that "the mother and

_

¹⁸⁷ Payne et al., 187. See also: Toledano and Zeiler, 168.

¹⁸⁸ Payne et al., 188.

¹⁸⁹ Payne et al., 186.

¹⁹⁰ Payne et al., 188.

¹⁹¹ Payne et al., 188. E.g., one surrogate says, "we're on the same page."

¹⁹² Payne et al., 188.

¹⁹³ Yee et al. (2020), 263.

I didn't see eye to eye on all things," which resulted in a "horrible experience" defined by stress and physical harm (hypertension). 194 Overall, surrogates have reported being expected to behave contrariwise to their values. 195 Clearly, such cases are potentially autonomy undermining.

Revisiting the threats to autonomy I overviewed, surrogates experience pressure, loss of control, and unexpected harm because of incompatible values or interests. For example, surrogates report having the intended parents' lifestyle 'forced' onto them (e.g., with intended parents insisting on surrogates using a second dishwasher 196), causing them to feel less in control of their lives.

Although surrogacy agreements are intended to prevent such conflicts, interests can change during the course of the arrangement (e.g., a surrogate may be initially open to abortion but change their mind later in the pregnancy 197).

More broadly, there is the concern that intended parents would always prioritize the interests of the child over and above the interests of the surrogate, potentially leading to autonomy-related threats (e.g., emerging with conflict). However, this matter is often complicated. Many intended parents recognize the obvious fact: that the surrogate is carrying the child—which is a source of their power—and is a fundamental piece of the 'surrogacy puzzle.' Likewise, surrogates often have a good relationship with the intended parents, characterized by "high satisfaction," a strong "emotional connection" between parties, and compatible values and expectations. In this way, the interests of the surrogate and the intended parents may align (and surrogates may prioritize the interests of the child too) and, if they do not, the parties may be able to navigate potential stressors in a healthy way. In many arrangements,

¹⁹⁴ Yee et al. (2020), 260-1.

¹⁹⁵ Yee et al. (2020), 263.

¹⁹⁶ Carsley (2021), 832.

¹⁹⁷ E.g., see Drabiak-Syed, 560.

¹⁹⁸ Laufer-Ukeles, 43, 50.

¹⁹⁹ Ziff, 520; Teman, 32; Carsley (2020), 1.

²⁰⁰ Yee et al. (2019), 252.

surrogates describe a mutually respectful partnership, where intended parents respect surrogates as decision-makers, valuing their opinions with regards to the pregnancy.²⁰¹

Many theorists have also assumed that surrogates are harmed by what they consider to be foreign infringements of their autonomy and bodily space. While there is truth to this, in the sense the various medical procedures (like hormonal injections) can result in surrogates feeling a loss of control, recent studies have found that surrogates often assert control by using their environment (these 'environmental threats') to their advantage. ²⁰² Consider Ziff's assertion that "medicalization becomes a tool" which allows surrogates to preserve their agency. ²⁰³ In this case, Ziff responds to the common assumption of agents being harmed by 'external threats,' when theories of relational autonomy, for example as advanced by McLeod and Sherwin, situate agents within their broader contexts, where they can be benefitted by their environment just as they can be harmed by it. I will return to these considerations in chapter 4, as I discuss factors which bolster the autonomy of surrogates.

How Surrogates Are Situated in Surrogacy Arrangements

Beyond considering the relational context of surrogacy arrangements, it is important to acknowledge that power disparities can impact the kinds of autonomy-related threats surrogates encounter and their ability to respond to them. While many scholars consider power imbalances inevitable within surrogacy arrangements, recent studies illustrate the power dynamics of surrogacy as "complex." ²⁰⁴ In Canada, power disparities between intended parents and surrogates can emerge, though oftentimes they are subtle. As some scholars have found, there is a lack of evidence to support the assumption that surrogates are impoverished (at least in

²⁰¹ Yee et al. (2019), 250; Yee et al. (2020), e260.

²⁰² E.g., see Teman; Ziff.

²⁰⁴ E.g., see Teman, 37.

countries such as Canada),²⁰⁵ and Canadian surrogates do not tend to be uneducated or of a low socioeconomic status.²⁰⁶ Thus, extreme power disparities, attributed to stark differences in socioeconomic status, are unlikely to emerge in surrogacy arrangements.

Yet it is possible for power disparities to manifest in other ways. Some research has shown that in Canada intended parents tend to be in a better socioeconomic position than surrogates (although not extremely so²⁰⁷), presumably because of how costly surrogacy is for intended parents.²⁰⁸ The fact intended parents may have more financial power can cause problems, especially considering issues with the reimbursement regulations: that sometimes surrogates may not be reimbursed, putting them in a financially precarious position (while they can pursue litigation many would not be able to afford it).²⁰⁹ As well, one could argue that surrogates face more potential harms than intended parents do, and are disproportionately more vulnerable, creating a power divide.²¹⁰

In general, we can assume that if intended parents have significantly more power than surrogates, the threats surrogates encounter may be more pronounced and more difficult to navigate. If a surrogate belongs to a group which is oppressed in society and their intended parents have more privilege, this may mean that the former has not developed autonomy-related skills, such as the self-confidence required for asserting themselves.²¹¹ If the intended parents are

20

²⁰⁵ Peng. 561-3.

²⁰⁶ See Yee et al. (2019), 252: many surrogates report financial problems. See also 253, which reveals it is untrue that most surrogates are uneducated. Financial coercion and extreme disparities in socioeconomic status between intended parents and surrogates are not significant concerns in Canada: surrogates would likely not enter agreements in order to improve their financial situation, since they cannot profit off of surrogacy arrangements. However, Carsley (2021) gestures to a potential concern: that the line between reimbursements/profit and need/improvement of lifestyle can become fuzzy.

²⁰⁷ See Yee et al. (2020), e258.

²⁰⁸ Carsley (2021), 826-7. See also: Fantus (2020), 803.

²⁰⁹ Carsley (2021), 829.

²¹⁰ It is unclear how much a power divide *per se* undermines surrogates' autonomy (e.g., whether even a slight divide impacts autonomy) but there appears to be a correlation between the severity of the power imbalance and the extent to which surrogates' autonomy is potentially undermined.

²¹¹ E.g., see McLeod and Sherwin.

wealthy and the surrogate is relatively poor the surrogate may have a reduced ability to assert themselves (e.g., breach the contract) because of financial concerns (e.g., the possibility they will not be reimbursed for their efforts), whereas the intended parents without encountering comparable barriers may be better able to advance their own interests (e.g., if they are wealthy they may not be as financially invested in the arrangement and therefore may be less mindful about potentially harming their surrogate and risking a breach in the agreement).

Thus, power disparities between surrogates and intended parents can impact the former's autonomy. At the same time, it is important to recognize the complicated nature of these imbalances. Power disparities vary between surrogacy arrangements: in some arrangements, power disparities are severe; in others they are relatively minimal.²¹² Power disparities also vary within arrangements. Surrogacy arrangements cannot be accurately represented as featuring an extreme and static power imbalance, where intended parents have unrestricted power and surrogates have little. Rather, recent studies have acknowledged power as a "fluid" property which can be negotiated between parties. ²¹³ As discussed in the previous sections, surrogates are not powerless: they respond to and often resist the stressors they encounter. As well, surrogates can have power over their intended parents in particular circumstances.²¹⁴ Surrogates can take advantage of intended parents, by for example maximizing reimbursement amounts beyond a point which is necessary.²¹⁵ In such circumstances, intended parents—especially if they are

²¹² Returning to Payne et al.'s typology, arrangements occurring in places with serious power disparities and inequality tend to be marred by conflicting expectations, low levels of satisfaction, and difficulty renegotiating surrogacy agreements. Conversely, in arrangements undertaken in contexts with minimal power divides, surrogates commonly report feeling satisfied with the arrangement and autonomous throughout the surrogacy pathway. This distinction appears to reflect a disparity in the severity of autonomy-related concerns.

²¹³ Ziff, 521.

²¹⁴ E.g., see Teman, 37. Further complicating matters, factors such as gender and sexuality can impact power in relationships. It is becoming increasingly common for gay men to become intended parents, and some studies have revealed they report experiencing discrimination because of their sexuality (see Fantus, 2021). Thus, while scholars have argued that surrogacy oppresses and degrades women, it is possible for intended parents to be oppressed, which may change the power dynamics of a specific surrogacy arrangement. ²¹⁵ Carsley (2021), 827.

desperate for children and are significantly invested, emotionally or financially, in the arrangement—²¹⁶ may feel that they have no choice but to appease their surrogate.

As can be concluded from this section, the power dynamics within surrogacy arrangements are complicated but are worth acknowledging, as they can impact the autonomy of surrogates, including the threats they encounter and their ability to manage them.

2.4 What Do the Studies Reveal About the Autonomy of Surrogates?

Based on the recent empirical studies, and as discussed in section 2.1, we can say there are significant threats to autonomy which commonly arise in surrogacy arrangements. Sections 2.2 and 2.3 emphasize that we should be careful to not make assumptions and generalizations that surrogates all have undermined autonomy or experience the autonomy-related threats in the same way. Some surrogates encounter severe threats, whereas others are relatively unaffected by them, whether because the threats they encounter are less severe or because they can manage them. The previous section also emphasized that the autonomy-related threats do not emerge in isolation: they are shaped by different factors, many of them relational in nature.

Considering the contexts of surrogacy also reveals how complicated the issues of autonomy, agency, and power are within surrogacy arrangements. In the previous section I demonstrated how surrogates generally do not identify as significantly harmed (including oppressed and degraded) and oftentimes feel empowered by, and within, their arrangements. Mohanty (1984) urges theorists to avoid making generalizations about women—especially women of colour—being oppressed and lacking autonomy and power. Mohanty stresses the need to understand women from within their own contexts and understand the ways in which

²¹⁶ Ziff, 520; See Teman, 37 who discusses how the 'hunger' of the intended parents contributes to the "upturning any connotations that the couple is more powerful than she is in the relationship."

²¹⁷ Mohanty (see especially 352, 337).

they have agency and power as they actively navigate oppressive forces.²¹⁸ In a similar way, the studies demonstrate that surrogates are not powerless: rather than passively enduring autonomy-related threats, surrogates actively respond to and often resist threats.

We should therefore hesitate to conclude that surrogates necessarily experience harm in their arrangements or that their autonomy is undermined. In reality, surrogacy arrangements vary considerably and so do the experiences of surrogates, including how they navigate autonomy-related threats. There is also variance within each surrogacy arrangement: as Payne et al. et al. (2020) suggest, there are "temporal changes" during a surrogacy arrangement. ²¹⁹ Thus, a surrogate may feel empowered at one point in the arrangement but later experience autonomy-related threats which significantly undermine their autonomy (e.g., many intended parents become increasingly controlling as the arrangement progresses²²⁰).

The Implications of this Discussion

As the autonomy-related threats have the potential to seriously undermine autonomy, and often do, they should be prevented and dealt with (e.g., through policy). At the same time, there is a lack of indication that extreme measures are needed (e.g., that surrogacy should be prohibited) as these threats do not necessarily impact surrogates in general and, more specifically, undermine their autonomy. That is, it is not clear that, following these autonomy-related concerns, surrogacy is overwhelmingly problematic to the extent that would warrant extreme regulatory measures. A few scholars have argued that the fact surrogacy is threatening to autonomy welcomes a stringent response. For example, Dodds and Jones (1989) say:²²¹

²¹⁸ Mohanty (see especially 344-345).

²¹⁹ Payne et al., 189-90.

²²⁰ This is commonly reported by surrogates. E.g., see Ziff, 260.

²²¹ Dodds and Jones, 1.

Surrogacy contracts pose a sufficiently great number of serious risks to personal autonomy to justify their impermissibility. These risks, such as the surrogate mother's loss of control over her body and daily activities during the pregnancy, the powerlessness of having to give up a child to whom one may have formed a deep attachment, and the normal dangers of pregnancy, seriously undercut the ability to make a fully informed and free choice to become a surrogate mother.

In this passage, Dodds and Jones capture some of the early theoretical concerns that feminists advanced but have since not been substantiated by empirical research. As discussed in this thesis, surrogates do not necessarily encounter a loss of control (to an extent that undermines their autonomy) and are not necessarily powerless (or even impacted by "having to give up" the child²²²). Nonetheless, it is interesting that Dodds and Jones consider these risks sufficient for making surrogacy morally impermissible. While I have identified a few significant autonomy-related threats it is not obvious to me that they are sufficient for making surrogacy arrangements morally impermissible (especially given the evidence about surrogate experiences that has emerged since Dodds and Jones expressed their concerns about surrogacy). In part this is because it is unclear what number or severity of threats would be sufficient in this regard and in part this is because it is difficult to know how severe the autonomy-related threats with respect to surrogacy are. Considering this last point, the next chapter will discuss how the studies may be understating the autonomy-related harms emerging in surrogacy arrangements.²²³

Overall, my stance is similar to Laufer-Ukeles's claim that, in comparison to pregnancy in general, "the potential problems and threats to autonomy are multiplied exponentially in the

²²² Most surrogates do not express concern about this. See Teman; Ziff, 520; Payne et al., 186; Yee et al. (2020), 263; Peng, 562-3

²²³ It is difficult to say how severe the threats are, given a lack of research and also the fact many surrogates have not reported experiencing the threats.

context of surrogacy."²²⁴ While 'exponentially' may be an exaggeration, this statement highlights surrogacy as threatening and risky, although not necessarily autonomy undermining. Yet, as will be discussed in the next chapter, it is also important to recognize that one's autonomy may be undermined even if they possess agency, respond to autonomy-related threats, and identify as empowered (or at least as not harmed) within their arrangements.

²²⁴ Laufer-Ukeles, 31.

3. The Need for Contextualization: What is Missing in the Studies?

In the previous chapter I discussed how surrogates' autonomy is threatened in various ways but not necessarily undermined. Whether the threats impact a surrogate's autonomy depends on various factors, such as the severity of the threats (e.g., how controlling the intended parents become), the circumstances of the surrogate (e.g., how surrogates experience and are impacted by the threats depends on their autonomous interests and their ability to manage the stressors), and whether the threats can be properly dealt with. As such, the studies arguably undermine the idea that the autonomy of surrogates is necessarily diminished, given that surrogates experience threats to their autonomy in different ways, with many able to manage them and some even finding surrogacy empowering.

In this chapter I will respond to these studies and specifically address how scholars have analyzed the reports of surrogates. In so doing, I will emphasize how these studies may not be capturing the full extent of autonomy-related concerns emerging in surrogacy arrangements. Although the recent studies present a more accurate representation of surrogacy arrangements, as they engage with the experiences of surrogates themselves, they suffer from a failure to properly contextualize surrogates' reports. By 'contextualize,' I mean that studies do not consider why surrogates say what they do, nor do they recognize how surrogates experience various external constraints. As I will argue, contextualizing surrogacy requires that a researcher theorize surrogates' experiences (e.g., identify autonomy-related threats which are evident when one scrutinizes the reports instead of considering them at face value). 225 In turn, while it is important

²²⁵ Bailey (2011) makes a similar argument although she focuses on research on Indian surrogates and problematic depictions of them.

to acknowledge the experiences of surrogates, we should understand them from a larger context.

3.1 Limitations in the Empirical Research

Besides the fact there are few studies focused on surrogacy in Canada, one could take issue with problems present in the existing studies. There is a divide in the available scholarship, between publications focused on theoretical concerns—with limited to no engagement with the experiences of surrogates—and studies, including the ones I have overviewed, which centre on the perspectives of surrogates but with limited theoretical analysis. Bailey (2011) draws attention to the problem of "under-theoretizing" amongst feminist researchers who rightly consider surrogates from their own cultural contexts but fail to properly attend to theoretical issues concerning "structural harms and injustices." Many of the studies I overviewed suffer from similar issues. Some of these issues pertain to each scholar's optimistic tone and related emphasis on empowerment. Consider Yee et al. (2020), who say:

Half of our survey participants were repeat surrogates; it is plausible that these women were motivated to repeat the experience due to their personal fulfillment and gratification gained from the previous surrogacy journey.

In this passage, one explanation (the one which is optimistic about surrogates' experiences) is privileged over another plausible one (that which is more critical). While many repeat surrogates are satisfied by their previous arrangements, there is another explanation: many surrogates face immense pressure to pursue "back-to-back" arrangements so that intended parents can have sibling children.²²⁹ Consider also Ziff (2021), who focuses on how surrogates can feel

²²⁶ Bailey, 715.

²²⁷ Perhaps because they are responding to longstanding theoretical concerns rather than attempting to offer a balanced perspective.

²²⁸ Yee et al. (2020), e263.

²²⁹ Gomez et al.

empowered throughout the surrogacy arrangement and says:

When Becky's first transfer resulted in an undiagnosed ectopic pregnancy that resulted in significant medical complications for her, she reported feeling no hesitation about jumping into a second transfer.²³⁰

This is an example of a surrogate's perspective which could signal autonomy-related concerns. Becky's explanation of why she wanted to immediately continue treatments, even in the face of medical problems, includes the statement "I didn't want him to start all over screening, and contracts, and [...] at that point, he had already spent 40,000 USD."²³¹ Becky's statement is arguably troubling because it reflects the kinds of pressure—both from intended parents and from surrogacy contracts—surrogates tend to experience. However, Ziff does not explicitly discuss these issues in relation to Becky's account. Rather than framing Becky's statement as a matter of pressure, Ziff frames it positively, as a perceived "responsibility" which surrogates "embrace."²³² Similarly, another surrogate Ziff discusses as "giving herself [hormonal injections]" and as such "feeling in control and having agency in the process, noting it made her feel better."²³³ Ziff views this statement as evidence that surrogacy, and its related procedures, can be empowering. However, it also raises potential concerns, which Ziff does not acknowledge, around the measures surrogates may be 'forced' to take in order to have control.²³⁴ *Does it Matter Whether Surrogates Feel Empowered?*

In studies, including the ones overviewed, surrogates generally do not report being powerless or having their autonomy compromised, and recent studies emphasize how the surrogates assert control and manage the threats they encounter. Yet the studies do capture

²³¹ Ziff, 520

²³⁰ Ziff, 520.

²³² Ziff, 521.

²³³ Ziff, 519.

²³⁴ These concerns will be returned to later in this chapter.

concerns the surrogates may not be consciously aware of and the scholars may not explicitly address. Consider Becky's reported enthusiasm about "jumping into a second transfer;" she admits the pressures she faced to continue the procedures, without considering how they might have impacted her autonomy. ²³⁵ Consider also the surrogate who felt empowered through self-administering painful injections, not seeing this as problematic (and potentially reflective of the measures she had to take to feel in control). In such cases, there is an apparent disconnect between how surrogates feel and how their autonomy is threatened (and even undermined).

An example of this problem is presented in Rozée et al. (2020)'s study based in India. In this study, surrogates reported being 'empowered' by surrogacy (e.g., as a means to support their families), while also detailing their impoverished conditions and how they felt obligated to become surrogates²³⁶ (raising the question of whether they were coerced into the agreement, financially or otherwise), and admitting they were forced to undergo medical procedures relating to the surrogacy (clearly reflecting a violation of bodily autonomy).²³⁷ The surrogates interviewed in this study do not identify as oppressed or harmed, nor as "vulnerable women and victims," but instead as women "taking control of their destiny."²³⁸ Yet their autonomy was obstructed in certain ways: at times "they had no autonomy although they did not express complaints [including related to their autonomy]."²³⁹

Given this study, it seems clear that surrogates may not feel harmed during the surrogacy pathway, while also having their autonomy undermined in significant respects. In Canada, there is less of an obvious tension between the subjective accounts of surrogates and the ways in which their autonomy may be threatened or undermined, as the potential harms are often subtle (e.g.,

²³⁵ Ziff, 520.

²³⁶ Rozée et al., 4-6, 9.

²³⁷ Rozée et al., 1, 9. It is unclear whether they were physically forced, but they had no say over the medical decisions.

²³⁸ Rozée et al., 11

²³⁹ Rozée et al., 1.

financial coercion and forcing surrogates to undergo medical procedures are generally not concerns because of legal protections in place; instead, a surrogate may feel inclined to pursue surrogacy not because of impoverished circumstances but because of a related interest in bettering their lifestyle, ²⁴⁰ and surrogates may feel pressured to undergo medical procedures to appease the intended parents). However, there is a potential tension between the subjective feelings of surrogates and the ways in which their autonomy may be undermined, raising a need to not always consider their reports at face value.²⁴¹

At this point it should be clear that many surrogates do not identify as oppressed or as lacking autonomy. Some scholars have stressed this idea, acknowledging reports by surrogates that surrogacy is rewarding or empowering, ²⁴² and making claims like "surrogacy is a self-actualizing deed that can enhance self-confidence, self-worth, and personal values." ²⁴³ It should also be clear that this kind of optimism requires further scrutiny and can sometimes be misplaced. In part this is because individuals can have diminished autonomy without realizing it—a woman may not realize that she was pressured to become a beautician due to gender norms, just as someone may not realize their lack of assertiveness inhibits their ability to make autonomous decisions. ²⁴⁴

Do the Studies Capture the Complexity of Surrogacy Arrangements?

Many of the aforementioned studies only capture some of the considerations relevant to autonomy. For example, Yee et al. (2020) focuses on surrogates' level of satisfaction with respect to their surrogacy arrangements. While a high level of satisfaction is likely not a cause

²⁴⁰ E.g., with access to organic foods, designer clothing (see Carsley 2021, 828).

²⁴¹ This tension may be captured by the distinction between local and global autonomy: one can feel empowered in the moment while having their autonomy undermined in other significant, and perhaps more global, ways.

²⁴² E.g., see Yee et al. (2020); Ziff; Campbell; Teman.

²⁴³ Yee et al. (2020), e263.

²⁴⁴ E.g., see McLeod and Sherwin.

for concern and can indicate that a surrogate has pursued their arrangement autonomously and has not been significantly harmed, a retrospective glimpse into the arrangement does not necessarily consider the different ways autonomy (and wellbeing) may be undermined at different stages of the arrangement. Consider, for example, a surrogate's assertion that "[Being a surrogate was] worth all the trials and tribulations just to see how happy the intended parents are to meet their baby for the first time." In this case, what are the "trials and tribulations"? A surrogate's overall impression of the arrangement does not capture the complicated ways in which their autonomy may be undermined, threatened, or supported. Moreover, measuring surrogates' overall satisfaction with their arrangements is potentially problematic.

There is the question of whether a surrogate's impression of their arrangement may be impacted, and the associated harms undermined, due to a psychological phenomenon: recency effects. This phenomenon describes the tendency for individuals to 'forget' the harms they endured and focus on more recent, and oftentimes rewarding, events. A well-known example is individuals who climb Mount Everest; even those who face extreme, even life-threatening, trials may say "that was awesome!" and vow to repeat the climb, as what they remember is the overwhelming satisfaction they had while reaching the bottom. ²⁴⁶ Similarly, consider cognitive dissonance: individuals do not like being confronted with realities which conflict with their beliefs. This is especially the case when they cannot change the circumstances they encounter—which is relevant to surrogacy as it is difficult to back out of arrangements—²⁴⁷ and so they feel a need to rationalize their decision: ²⁴⁸

_

²⁴⁵ Yee et al. (2020), e262.

²⁴⁶ I learned about this from Dr. Hollis-Haynes, who this thesis is dedicated in memory of. See Hollis-Haynes in the bibliography. Also, other psychological phenomenon are relevant: cognitive dissonance and rationalization.

²⁴⁷ Surrogates can feel this way for various reasons. Some have been covered, like the pressure to adhere to the agreement. More generally, surrogates can feel like they have no option but to continue with the arrangement when they are pregnant.

²⁴⁸ This is an example based on Dr. Hollis-Haynes's lecture (again, see the bibliography).

- (1) "I do not like entering situations where my autonomy or wellbeing is harmed"
- (2) "I am currently in an arrangement I cannot leave, wherein I am harmed"
- (3) "This arrangement is worthwhile because of *x* (e.g., the newborn's smile)."

 It is difficult to know how much surrogates are impacted by psychological phenomena like recency effects and cognitive dissonance, but they are explanations for why surrogates can face various harms during their arrangements and yet have a positive impression of their experiences. Considering different explanations like this would support addressing the complicated nature of surrogacy arrangements and related questions of surrogates' autonomy and agency. It would be dubious to assume that it is wrong for surrogates to find their arrangements rewarding, or that what they say results from psychological tricks, but points like this are worth considering.

This section has outlined reasons to consider the kinds of studies which have been published and to be careful about the conclusions which are made accordingly. Given more empirical research, which acknowledges the complicated nature of surrogacy arrangements and strives for a more balanced approach, it is possible that we could get a different impression of surrogacy as possibly presenting more threats or undermining autonomy in significant ways. At the very least, investigating surrogacy in such a way would facilitate a more nuanced understanding of the threats and harms surrogates experience and how they navigate them.

3.2 Neglected Contexts: Considering External Constraints

Given limitations of the aforementioned studies, and the lack of empirical research on surrogacy in Canada more generally, we should not rule out the possibility of surrogates' autonomy being severely undermined or threatened. In other words, although it is important to consider the subjective experiences of surrogates, they do not necessarily invalidate theoretical

(and specifically ethical) concerns.²⁴⁹ The overviewed studies present potential harms while illuminating the different ways surrogates assert agency, empower themselves, and respond to the stressors they may encounter. In chapter 2 I outlined the threats to autonomy surrogates tend to encounter; now I will consider some of the theoretical positions which, although they are not explicitly discussed by the scholars of the aforementioned studies, are nonetheless applicable.

Beyond the general concern that surrogates' autonomy may be undermined even if they do not consciously realize it (and even if the scholarly emphasis is on the ways in which they manage, and are empowered in spite of, the stressors they encounter), some feminist theories on agency and autonomy explain specific concerns which may withstand the subjective reports of surrogates. Although different feminist theorists are applicable to this discussion, I will focus on Oshana (2006), who captures some of the ways in which surrogates' autonomy may be impacted by the external constraints of their arrangements. ²⁵⁰ In turn, Oshana considers contextual factors which are not acknowledged by the authors of the studies in question and are not typically considered in the standard view of autonomy in medical law and ethics. Yet, as will be discussed in this section, these factors are relevant to the autonomy of surrogates.

In the literature perspectives on coercion with regards to surrogacy usually focus on issues less relevant to Canadian surrogates, especially around commercialization (e.g., surrogates facing impoverished conditions being financially coerced to pursue a paid agreement²⁵¹). However, some of the threats I previously discussed relate to coercion (i.e., pressure, control, and power imbalances). Many scholars have viewed some of these factors, like power imbalances, as

²⁴⁹ Some of the scholars of these studies allude to a similar point. E.g., consider Ziff, who says that her study "does not render the issues of power and control obsolete" (510).

²⁵⁰ Oshana (2006) discusses autonomy as dependent on one's environment and as a more objective matter—that is, that individuals can have diminished autonomy even if they are unaware of it. Oshana is also more concerned with 'global autonomy,' highlighting the ways in which an individual's overall autonomy can be diminished even if they have the ability to form autonomous decisions in particular moments.

²⁵¹ Some of these concerns are alluded to in Rozée et al. (2020)'s study.

inherent to surrogacy arrangements. I have discussed these factors as potentially, but not necessarily, autonomy undermining. An open question is when these threats actually could be said to undermine autonomy. One could say that someone who faces various threats has a constrained ability to make autonomous decisions, even if they are relatively unaffected by the threats or able to manage them; in this case their autonomy may be undermined in some respect.

Some feminist scholars, including Oshana (2006), maintain that "severely constraining external conditions are autonomy-undermining." An example Oshana provides concerns feudalism: serfs have diminished autonomy because of "a social structure in which the 'general and routine' aspects of a serf's life are not under his or her own control but rather under that of the lord of the manor." In this and other cases, Oshana draws attention to an oppressive social structure which systematically and holistically undermines autonomy, rather than specific threats. One might think that surrogacy arrangements present a similar social structure, where surrogates routinely encounter threats and are subject to external control (whether by the surrogacy agreement or by the intended parents), akin to intended parents turning on an oven (where the oven represents the surrogate and bread the child²⁵⁴).

Oshana maintains external constraints can undermine autonomy even if agents do not realize this is the case and even if they endorse these conditions (as has been discussed, surrogates do not always feel that their autonomy is undermined). Turning then to the more 'objective' (i.e., structural) harms of surrogacy, the argument can be made that surrogates encounter "constraining external conditions." Pressure, control, and power imbalances are conditions external to surrogates which tend to manifest in surrogacy arrangements and often

-

²⁵² Oshana (2006), 62. See also: Stoljar (2018).

²⁵³ Oshana (2006), 62. See also: Stoljar (2018).

²⁵⁴ Teman, 32.

²⁵⁵ Oshana (2006), 62. See also: Stoljar (2018).

interfere with their capacity to exercise their autonomy. Within arrangements, surrogates are generally vulnerable: they face a number of threats to their autonomy (and wellbeing) and their capacity for making decisions is to an extent stifled (their decision making operates from within the confines of a potentially oppressive arrangement, wherein they have to report to a number of parties as well as the surrogacy agreement and cannot easily back out of the arrangement).

Even if one agreed that these external conditions collectively threaten autonomy, it is not obvious that they are, in Oshana's words, "severe" enough to necessarily undermine autonomy. Oshana uses an extreme example, of serfs forced to participate in certain kinds of labour. 256 With surrogacy in Canada, there is no clear indication that surrogates enter arrangements involuntarily.²⁵⁷ If individuals consent to potentially oppressive circumstances, wherein they expect to encounter external constraints, it is unclear whether these threats would genuinely undermine their autonomy. There are many cases of individuals choosing to enter situations which may restrict the options available to them and the goods they normally pursue which align with their autonomous interests. An example is individuals choosing to take airplanes despite their aversion to sitting for long periods of time in confined spaces. In a similar way, individuals choose to become pregnant, undergo certain medical treatments, and enter surrogacy arrangements, likely with a sense that the goods they normally pursue, which align with their autonomous interests, will be less accessible in some sense. In such cases, it is not obvious that these individuals have undermined autonomy, provided they consent to enter these situations with the knowledge their goods may be restricted. 258 Yet it is important to acknowledge the potential for surrogates' autonomy to be impacted by external constraints such as the ones

_

²⁵⁶ Oshana (2006), 62. See also: Stoljar (2018).

²⁵⁷ E.g., see Peng.

²⁵⁸ I will return to this idea of informed choice in chapter 4.

highlighted by Oshana.

Surrogates Adapting to Threats: Autonomy Undermining?

As discussed, surrogates encounter various threats to their autonomy: pressure, control, and unexpected harm. These threats potentially, but not necessarily, undermine the autonomy of surrogates. In part this is because many surrogates are able to manage the threats they encounter and seem relatively unaffected by them as a result. However, similar to the concerns discussed in the previous section, perhaps the problem is not (merely) that surrogates are exposed to these threats but that they are 'forced' to manage the threats they encounter—and may be burdened accordingly—in respects they may not always anticipate and, as such, consent to.

Many of the aforementioned studies discuss surrogates preventing or managing threats to their autonomy. Teman (2010) examines the 'boundary work' surrogates perform in order to protect their privacy and sense of control (e.g., the "red lines" surrogates draw which specify the kinds of situations they are comfortable with, and the lines intended parents should not cross). ²⁵⁹ Ziff (2021) observes that surrogates are expected to be "savvy negotiators, protecting themselves and their families," ²⁶⁰ which reflects the general need for surrogates to negotiate (e.g., whether related to boundary work or negotiating the provisions of surrogacy agreements). When surrogates do not assert themselves—by erecting boundaries, informing intended parents of their needs, and negotiating—they can be significantly harmed, with their autonomy infringed upon. Asserting themselves in such a way is an ongoing practice of "boundary maintenance," as the needs of surrogates change over time, ²⁶¹ as do the threats surrogates encounter (e.g., based on how controlling the intended parents are).

²⁵⁹ Teman, 95. I will return to this in chapter 4.

²⁶⁰ Ziff, 517

²⁶¹ E.g., see Carsley (2021), 832.

Studies have demonstrated other ways surrogates manage the threats they contend with. Scholars often discuss 'medicalization' as a source of harm but Ziff finds that it "becomes a tool that allows [surrogates] to remain agentic actors" during the surrogacy pathway. ²⁶² An example of this is the surrogate who eventually found it empowering—instilling her with a sense of control—to give herself painful hormonal injections. ²⁶³ Similarly, surrogates utilize various cognitive techniques to distance themselves emotionally from the child they carry, avoiding the possible harms resulting from attachment. ²⁶⁴

Therefore, the studies reveal a tendency for many surrogates to manage the threats they encounter, to the extent the threats themselves do not appear to significantly undermine their autonomy. Consider the surrogate who self-administered the 'painful hormonal injections' which "made her feel better;" this act enabled her to feel in control and allowed her some agency. ²⁶⁵ It is evident, from Ziff's study, that surrogates commonly feel a (potential) loss of control, perceive it as a threat, and compensate for it by "actively executing the day to day medical protocol," which allows some surrogates to feel "in control of everything." ²⁶⁶ While such surrogates could be said to be maximizing their autonomy in a reasonable and proactive way (e.g., akin to patients asking their physician questions in order to support their decision making), the fact surrogates may *have to* manage the threats is troubling and is worth conceptualizing as a threat itself.

If a surrogate self-administers painful injections, employs cognitive tools, or does boundary maintenance, are they doing so out of necessity? That is, do surrogates encounter a coercive environment where they have to respond to these threats in certain ways? Oshana is yet

262

²⁶² Ziff, 511.

²⁶³ Ziff, 518-9.

²⁶⁴ Yee et al. (2020), e263.

²⁶⁵ Ziff, 518

²⁶⁶ Ziff, 519.

again relevant to this discussion, saying:²⁶⁷

Interferences threaten autonomy when they relegate persons to a position whereby, in order to live in a self-managed, self-directed fashion, persons must resist the interference, or at least resist the temptation to regard the interference as normal and legitimate, even as they adapt to its presence.

Here Oshana draws attention to the fact individuals may manage threats they encounter but this very action, of having to adapt to the threats, is potentially autonomy undermining. Clearly, this relates to surrogacy: many surrogates manage the threats they encounter, such as a perceived loss of control, but they may be 'forced' to do so, raising the question of whether they are managing the threats autonomously. If surrogates perceive a loss of control, it would likely be in their interest to manage it—many surrogates find a loss of control troubling and go to extensive lengths to remedy it—and for this reason they may have no option but to deal with it. However, surrogates may encounter a double-bind, where their autonomy is potentially undermined regardless of what they do: either they feel a lack of control (or encounter a different threat) or they manage the threat they experience in a way which may not serve their autonomous interests.

There are different issues emerging from surrogates being or feeling compelled to manage the threats they encounter. One is that, regardless of whether managing the threats is aligned with their autonomous interests, they did not choose to do so. One is that managing the threats in general may not be aligned with their autonomous interests. Surrogates are usually informed of the harms involved in surrogacy, such as the potential for medical complications, but it does not appear standard for surrogates to be informed of the ways in which they may have to manage them, meaning this aspect of surrogacy may not be factored into their overall assessment

²⁶⁷ Oshana (2006), 88. See also: Johnston, 318-319, 324.

²⁶⁸ I note that this is a complicated point which invites further engagement, potentially in another paper.

of surrogacy arrangements and their decision of whether to sign a contract. We can imagine a prospective surrogate who would not want to consent to an arrangement if they knew how they might have to deal with these threats. Imagine a woman who has trouble with assertiveness and becomes anxious when she is placed in a position where she has to assert herself; if she has to 'erect red lines' in order to restrict the intended parent's pressure and control over her she may be seriously harmed by the arrangement.

Besides the possibility that surrogates may be compelled to deal with threats to their autonomy, they may have to manage the threats in particular ways—including in ways they dislike or are unprepared for—given the confines and constraints of surrogacy arrangements. Surrogates are expected to receive hormonal injections in order to support the surrogate pregnancy; self-administering them may be the only way to exert control over this process (making doing so necessary if one wants to avoid a loss of control). Surrogates often cannot easily change their circumstances (e.g., the fact they are pregnant, the importance of hormonal injections in surrogacy, etc.), which perhaps explains why many of them employ cognitive strategies for dealing with the issues they face (e.g., if emotional attachment to the child is perceived as a concern, there is a question of how else they would deal with this besides using cognitive barriers). Similarly, if a surrogate feels that their body is 'overtaken' by various medical procedures inherent to surrogacy (such as hormonal injections), it is unclear how else they would assert control besides administering the procedures themselves or changing their frame of mind (so they begin to view the procedures as empowering). Lastly, if surrogates feel a loss of control or immense pressure from their intended parents, erecting boundaries may be the only reasonable option—and may be necessary—for dealing with these problems.

These strategies can be especially burdensome, considering the dynamic and lengthy nature of surrogacy arrangements (and of the threats they encounter; consider how intended parents often become more controlling as the surrogacy progresses). Surrogates do not usually have to only deal with hormonal injections once—sometimes they endure months of them—²⁶⁹ and things like boundaries, cognitive tools to compartmentalize one's emotions, and so on, have to be employed and maintained throughout the arrangement as surrogates respond to emerging and changing issues. Thus, there is not one solution that is invoked; surrogates often have to go to extensive lengths to manage the threats they encounter.²⁷⁰ In this way, the management of the threats may interfere with one's ability to pursue the goods aligned with their autonomous interests.

Adaptive Preference Formation

Returning to Oshana, she mentions that autonomy is threatened when agents have to manage an 'interference,' seeing this obtaining "even as they adapt to its presence." An example of this adaptation is a Black man having to "adapt to being a person subject to racial profiling, by resistance, or by cunning, or by ingratiation." Although the experiences of Black men are quite distinct from the experiences of surrogates—one reason being that surrogates can choose to enter arrangements but Black men do not choose to be racially oppressed—this example raises concerns related to adaptive preference formation.

Feminist theorists discuss adaptive preferences as not only a matter of responding to an oppressive situation, where individuals adjust their preferences in response to the external constraints they experience; there is a cognitive aspect to it, where individuals unconsciously

²⁶⁹ E.g., see Ziff, 521.

²⁷⁰ Even if surrogates do not seem enormously burdened as they manage these threats, they are often still mindful of them and must be in order to protect themselves (they do not identify the threat as, in Oshana's words, "normal and legitimate").

²⁷¹ Oshana (2006), 88. See also: Johnston, 318-319, 324.

²⁷² Oshana (2006), 90. See also: Johnston, 318-319, 324.

change their preferences to suit their environment, akin to a fox wanting grapes until they become unable to grasp them.²⁷³ In the previous section I discussed the ways in which surrogates may be compelled to manage threats to their autonomy. Adaptive preferences are worth considering in this context as they may explain why some surrogates appear relatively unaffected by having to resist the stressors they face (and in turn further call into question the idea that the reports of surrogates should be taken at 'face value').²⁷⁴

Some surrogates have reported taking on enormous burdens in order to manage the autonomy-related threats, while suggesting they became accustomed to them; others have considered the management of the threats 'empowering' instead of burdensome. Perhaps surrogates who do not seem impacted by these 'burdens' or having to cope with the threats are changing their preferences to suit the environment of constraints they encounter. Adaptive preference formation can include the tendency for individuals who are oppressed to "come to desire that which is oppressive to them," even to the extent that they "turn away from goods and even needs that, absent those conditions, they would want." This may explain why surrogates report being 'empowered' by 'transcending' the barriers they encounter and, moreover, may explain why surrogates often describe themselves in ways that are arguably objectifying: as 'ovens' and 'incubators.' These descriptions have been understood by some scholars as reflecting surrogates 'taking control' and displaying their agency (e.g., they are the ones 'carrying the bread' and are playing an active role in the process).

_

²⁷³ Stoljar (2018). This is an example given by Jon Elster.

²⁷⁴ I recognize there is a possible tension between the view of autonomy employed in chapter 2 (which has a subjective component relating to preference satisfaction) and the idea of adaptive preferences, which could be discussed in a further paper. Adaptive preferences offer a more nuanced understanding of autonomy than just taking the interests of individuals (including surrogates) at face value; in this way this section is aligned with my argument more generally, as the thesis as a whole calls for a more nuanced understanding of surrogates' experiences.

²⁷⁵ Cudd, 181. See also: Stoljar (2018).

²⁷⁶ Teman, 32.

²⁷⁷ ibid.

example of surrogates coming to "desire that which is oppressive to them," ²⁷⁸ either because of internalized oppression or because that is how they can cope with feeling oppressed and having restricted options for dealing with it. In turn, this may be an example of surrogates rationalizing their decisions in response to experiencing cognitive dissonance: if surrogates face threats to their autonomy and have to deal with them in an undesirable way, they may change their frame of mind in order to cope with circumstances they cannot change.

3.3 The Need for Contextualizing the Reports of Surrogates

This chapter has revealed that while we should not assume surrogates necessarily experience undermined autonomy, we should also not be overly optimistic about the experiences of surrogates and, in particular, their autonomy. Some of the evidence which seemingly supports surrogates' autonomy could be explained differently (e.g., surrogates' satisfaction as a form of cognitive dissonance) and much of the surrogates' reports would benefit from further analysis which captures remaining theoretical concerns and contextual issues. Surrogates may feel empowered or manage the threats they encounter at the same time that their autonomy may be undermined (perhaps because of having to manage the threats).

While it is difficult to know how problematic the autonomy-related theoretical concerns are, they do signal that the magnitude of the potential issues is more pronounced. Rather than only being concerned about the autonomy-related threats introduced in chapter 2, this chapter has demonstrated the need to be mindful of additional concerns which are not considered in the existing scholarship. Autonomy-related harms may be understated by recent studies because of the narrow kinds of analysis which are being used to frame surrogates' reports. As examples, Yee et al. emphasizes the satisfaction of surrogates without explicating what this means or

²⁷⁸ Cudd, 181. See also: Stoljar (2018).

offering alternative explanations for their reports, and Ziff emphasizes how surrogates assert control and "remain agential" without considering remaining theoretical concerns, ²⁷⁹ such as how surrogates may be forced to manage the threats in certain ways. In turn, there are additional autonomy-related threats which should be, but are not, addressed by these scholars.

While this chapter has revealed that surrogacy arrangements are potentially more threatening than initially discussed (in chapter 2), it is important to acknowledge that just as autonomy-related threats do not impact surrogates equally, issues such as coercion and adaptive preferences would likely impact surrogates in different ways and should therefore be understood from the contexts in which they operate. Not all surrogates would be impacted by adaptive preferences and other concerns, as some are relatively unaffected by the threats to begin with (e.g., some surrogates feel absolutely "no attachment" to the child and do not have to adopt emotional boundaries²⁸⁰) but also because some surrogates may have the means to deal with these threats, without having to adjust their behaviours in a way that might undermine their autonomy (e.g., imagine someone, like an attorney, who negotiates for a living and therefore erects boundaries with ease). As will be discussed in the next section, there are factors which can reduce and prevent autonomy-related harm.

_

²⁷⁹ Ziff, 511

²⁸⁰ Teman, 40. See also: Ziff, 520; Payne et al., 186; Yee et al. (2020), 263.

4. Future Directions in Research and Policy

Most generally, I have stressed the need to consider surrogacy, including the nuances of surrogacy arrangements, accurately. Part of this need entails a more balanced approach in the existing scholarship, where the experiences of surrogates are acknowledged but also adequately theorized and their reports understood from their contexts. There is a stark divide in the literature between scholars forming conclusions in an abstract way, often without acknowledging the experiences of surrogates and subsequently arriving at pessimistic conclusions of surrogates being oppressed, degraded, and so on; and scholars who consider the experiences of surrogates and often present them in an optimistic way while sometimes neglecting relevant theoretical concerns. 281 While clearly the experiences of surrogates should be considered in order to determine how their autonomy is impacted within surrogacy arrangements, it would be useful for research to focus on the threats surrogates experience and how they are resisted—rather than broad questions which tend to be explored, such as whether surrogates have autonomy—and to do so in a balanced way. By extension, more empirical research should be produced which addresses the specific aspects of surrogacy arrangements and how they progress, rather than general facts around the overall satisfaction of surrogates.

Given the lack of empirical research on surrogacy arrangements, especially ones pursued in Canada, I have pointed to how future research might better address autonomy-related concerns which emerge in surrogacy arrangements. It is important to engage with the experiences of surrogates, particularly in a way that attends to the complexity of surrogacy arrangements—it would be better to track the reports of surrogates as their arrangements progress, to gain accurate insight into the ways in which their autonomy may be undermined, rather than gauging their

²⁸¹ Similar arguments have been made by Bailey and Fulfer.

overall satisfaction with their arrangement, for example. It is also important to acknowledge how the reports of surrogates should not be taken at face value, at least not without contextualization. Some of the recent studies discuss issues applicable to feminist philosophy, observing surrogates from within their own contexts, understanding how they exert control and agency and examining their reports from a 'relational' perspective. However, I have demonstrated how scholars—in particular those conducting the studies in question—are not adequately contextualizing the reports of surrogates, whether this means they are not considering alternative explanations for why surrogates claim what they do, or whether they are insufficiently engaging with the theoretical concerns I overviewed.

When these empirical concerns are acknowledged this will better shape policy discussions and clarify ethical issues around the autonomy of surrogates. Regardless of the empirical drawbacks, surrogates' autonomy can be enhanced in certain ways, which will be addressed in this section. I will first discuss the 'protective factors' which have been identified in the literature as resources, capacities, and circumstances which increase the likelihood that surrogates' autonomy will be protected during their arrangements. A good policy approach would not only address potential harms but also account for relational factors which, more than merely preventing the harms, equip surrogates to better deal with them. After examining the protective factors, I will gesture to an intervention which would enhance (or protect) the autonomy of surrogates: strengthening the consent process.

4.1 Factors Which Protect Against Threats to Autonomy

As discussed in earlier sections, there are factors which can either increase or decrease the likelihood that a surrogate's autonomy will be diminished during their surrogacy arrangement. These factors emphasize surrogacy—specifically the question of whether

surrogates' autonomy is undermined—as complicated and contextually dependent. Many of these factors parallel the ones McLeod and Sherwin discuss: access to information (which empowers individuals to make autonomous decisions), personal attributes (self-trust, as well as related concepts: self-sufficiency and assertiveness), and social circumstances (an individual's relationships with others and with society). 282

Resources (Information)

It is well established that individuals require access to certain resources—including information—in order to be confident that their decisions serve their autonomous interests. An example of this need is articulated by McLeod and Sherwin: 283

[T]o be motivated to exercise her own choices, the agent must trust her capacity to choose effectively [which] involves having good decision-making skills and also being situated to choose well, meaning that the agent is adequately informed of alternative courses of action and of whatever facts are relevant to her decisions.

Surrogates have reported feeling empowered through becoming informed about surrogacy and the processes involved in it.²⁸⁴ Better access to information early in the surrogacy pathway (e.g., prior to the signing of a surrogacy agreement) likely increases the chance of a good outcome for the surrogate and decreases the chance that they will be unexpectedly harmed. ²⁸⁵ In this case, information acts as a buffer against potential threats to autonomy. The more information surrogates have the better they can anticipate and respond to potential issues, thereby reducing the possibility of unexpected harm. Moreover, when surrogates have adequate access to

²⁸² E.g., see McLeod and Sherwin, 263-4.

²⁸³ McLeod and Sherwin, 263.

²⁸⁵ Many scholars have argued something to this effect or at least alluded to it by mentioning surrogates who knew what to expect and therefore were not harmed (and vice versa). E.g., see Teman; Ziff, 516-7.

information—and trust it to be reliable—this can help them feel confident about their decisions and in control despite the threats (to autonomy) they encounter.

Evidently, access to information about surrogacy can assist surrogates in resisting autonomy-related threats. While there is not significant evidence that surrogates tend to be generally misinformed about surrogacy, ²⁸⁶ there is a question of what kinds of information surrogates do—and should—receive. Some studies have shown that surrogates attempt to educate themselves about surrogacy prior to entering arrangements and before undergoing medical procedures (e.g., hormonal injections). ²⁸⁷ In Canada there is a lack of research on the kinds of information surrogates access (including the information provided to them by surrogacy agencies, medical professionals, and attorneys), although Canadian surrogates have expressed difficulty in finding information about surrogacy.

Fantus (2020) found that Canadian surrogates browse the internet for relevant information but are unable to trust its accuracy considering much of the information is American, biased against the permissibility of surrogacy, or outdated.²⁸⁸ Surrogacy agencies appear to be advertising on social media (e.g., Instagram) which is potentially problematic for similar reasons (e.g., surrogacy agencies have an interest in retaining surrogates and therefore in showcasing surrogacy positively). There is no reason to believe surrogates would be incapable of scrutinizing information on social media or the internet, but there is a possibility that some would be less able to do so, considering this is a problem within the general population.

Yee et al. (2020) notes that intermediaries can assist surrogates in navigating potential issues throughout the surrogacy pathway, which reflects the general idea in medical ethics that

²⁸⁶ Peng, 561.

²⁸⁷ Among the American surrogates Ziff interviewed, the majority expressed researching surrogacy for at least six months prior to entering an arrangement (516).

²⁸⁸ Fantus (2020), 804.

experts facilitate autonomous decision-making and the relational idea that shared decision-making can be beneficial. Surrogacy agencies, medical professionals, and attorneys can provide surrogates with information they may find difficult to access or understand on their own. 289 Surrogates tend to, but not always, receive assistance from surrogacy agencies; medical professionals tend to be consulted (either for counselling prior or during an arrangement, which is not required but normally recommended, or for medical procedures relating to the pregnancy); and surrogates are legally required to have an attorney's assistance during the signing of the surrogacy agreement. Thus, various individuals are involved in information sharing—but not necessarily in a way that significantly benefits surrogates.

While one would hope the information surrogacy agencies deliver is accurate and comprehensive, surrogacy agencies are unregulated in Canada. This may explain why the quality of information surrogates receive varies by surrogacy agency: some receive limited information about surrogacy and possible harms; some report being pressured by the agencies supposedly assisting them; and others report being genuinely helped.²⁹⁰ Though surrogacy agencies must abide by the provisions of the *AHRA*, this Act is rarely enforced²⁹¹ and does not address issues specific to surrogacy contracts (which fall under provincial jurisdiction). The *AHRA* does require that assisted reproductive technologies be pursued with "free and fully informed consent"²⁹² (aligning with the medical doctrine of informed consent²⁹³) but does not specify the nature of information required for making such decisions. Per Ontario law, certain provisions are legally required (e.g., the parties to the agreement, including intended parentage, must be specified)²⁹⁴

2

²⁸⁹ Yee et al. (2020), e263.

²⁹⁰ See Fantus (2020), 804. See also: Fantus (2021).

²⁹¹ Carsley (2021), 817-8. See also: Nelson.

²⁹² AHRA, 2(d).

²⁹³ E.g., see Reilly, 484, Lepine, 4.

²⁹⁴ CLRA, 10.

and others are not required (or legally enforceable) but standard among surrogacy agreements:²⁹⁵

- Medical issues including assessments, procedures, decision making and information sharing (e.g., whether, and under what conditions, the surrogate is open to abortion);
- Liability and risks (e.g., physical and psychological risks of surrogacy);
- Financial issues (e.g., anticipated expenses, post-surgery care);
- Matters of confidentiality (e.g., the surrogate's right to privacy with respect to medical information);
- Remedies for breach (e.g., expectations regarding reimbursements).

As such, much of the information pertinent to surrogacy would likely, but not necessarily, be addressed as surrogacy agreements are negotiated and signed. Yet in addition to the fact not all these provisions are guaranteed to be addressed, contracts—and accompanying discussions—do not sufficiently capture the complexity of surrogacy arrangements.

Several studies have found that virtually all surrogates report experiencing "unexpected physical and psychological harms," one reason being that the harms were not properly articulated to them (e.g., because of medical professionals being biased against surrogacy and providing inadequate surrogacy-related information). Furthermore, many scholars have argued for certain harms to be addressed which are not typically included within surrogacy contracts, including stigma against surrogacy—which is well-evidenced as an issue causing Canadian surrogates psychological harm—²⁹⁷ and "employment issues" arising during the arrangement, for which surrogates are often "ill prepared" to deal with. ²⁹⁸ The majority of surrogacy contracts

²⁹⁵ The bullet points are quoted but I added examples in parentheses. See: Lepine, 2.

²⁹⁶ Fantus (2020), Fantus (2021).

²⁹⁷ See Fantus (2020), Fantus (2021), Yee et al. (2019), Yee et al. (2020).

²⁹⁸ Yee et al. (2019), 259.

focus on custody issues, the needs of the fetus (e.g., dietary concerns), and the psychological and physical impacts of surrogacy (although, as discussed, this concern is somewhat exaggerated²⁹⁹).

This information seems insufficient for addressing the ways in which surrogates are potentially harmed by their arrangements. For one, it does not address the autonomy-related harms, including the threats surrogates often experience (as discussed in chapter 2) and how they might have to manage them (as discussed in chapter 3). As well, this information may not address the relational aspects of surrogacy, in particular the correlation between the nature of the relationship between parties (e.g., whether it is conflictual) and the experiences of the surrogate (including whether they are significantly harmed). As studies have emphasized compatibility between surrogates and intended parents as crucial to the success of the arrangement, it is important that this is acknowledged.

Personal Attributes (Assertiveness and the Ability to Negotiate)

Scholars recognize that surrogates' ability to manage the various obstacles they encounter often depends on their personal attributes, which to an extent overlap with McLeod and Sherwin's concept of self-trust. McLeod and Sherwin consider self-trust essential to the development of autonomy and maintain that this attribute shares resemblance to others: self-esteem, assertiveness, and a sense of control over one's life. 300 If an individual has obstructed self-trust, they likely have diminished autonomy, as self-trust reflects the ability to trust one's decisions, the resources they access for making those decisions, and the ability to enact them. 301

For a surrogate to be able to withstand the threats to autonomy, it is important that they not only have access to certain resources, as discussed in the previous section, but also have the

²⁹⁹ E.g., see Campbell, 41-3, Reilly, 485.

³⁰⁰ E.g., see Sherwin and McLeod, 266.

³⁰¹ Sherwin and McLeod, 264.

capacity for doing so. Many scholars have explicated 'boundary setting' as a way to manage the stressors of surrogacy. As Teman (2010) says, "by erecting 'red lines,' surrogates are able to deal with the many intrusions, submissions, and challenges they are faced with." Teman discusses these 'red lines' as lines surrogates draw, either between themselves and the children they carry in an effort to prevent emotional attachment (e.g., surrogates referring to themselves as 'ovens' or 'nannies' in an effort to avoid motherly descriptors or between themselves and the intended parents (e.g., boundaries enacted to assert control over their bodies).

Regarding the latter, we have seen how external pressure, particularly from intended parents, can undermine surrogates' autonomy. The ability to enact boundaries therefore is advantageous in preventing this harm. Consider, for example, a surrogate who "put the brakes on" in response to an intended parent "becoming quite overbearing." Setting boundaries, such as in this case, is really an exercise in assertiveness: knowing how and when to say 'no' and having the confidence to do so. Boundary setting is used throughout the surrogacy pathway, as a mechanism for surrogates to maintain control of their bodies and their sense of self. For instance, some surrogates prefer to attend gynecologist appointments alone and expect the intended parents to respect their privacy. Others draw a line between their personal lives and their 'surrogacy lives,' ensuring their independence by living separated from the intended parents. This kind of boundary setting is critical: "If a surrogate does not have an explicit map of classifications and boundaries in place, she runs the risk of 'losing her self' in the body."

20

³⁰² Teman, 95.

³⁰³ Payne et al., 186.

³⁰⁴ Yee et al. (2020), e260.

³⁰⁵ Teman, 93.

³⁰⁶ Teman, 97-8. It seems rare that surrogates live with intended parents, both in Teman's study and in Canada.

³⁰⁷ Teman, 96.

To effectively set boundaries, surrogates have to identify their boundaries, communicate them to the intended parents, and enforce them. ³⁰⁸ Some surrogates find these requirements challenging, whether because of their situation (e.g., if they face a significant power imbalance) or because of difficulties with assertiveness. Many women struggle with assertiveness (e.g., because of gendered socialization) and may therefore lack the capacity to set and enforce boundaries as surrogates. One surrogate Teman discusses experienced a traumatic surrogacy arrangement; problems during the arrangement were largely attributed to the fact the surrogate did not set appropriate boundaries (she was "unable or unaware of the need to erect boundary signposts early on"). 309 As such, the surrogate felt "colonized" and that her body was not hers. 310

Thus, it is apparent that surrogates are expected to manage various stressors through 'boundary work' and, while this can be effective at combating threats to autonomy, some surrogates have difficulty with this, especially if they lack certain attributes: "if she doesn't know herself, if she isn't strong enough of a fighter, ... and isn't sure that she can get past every crisis on the way, ... then she will crumble."³¹¹ These attributes—strength, resilience, self-awareness, and confidence—resemble McLeod and Sherwin's understanding of self-trust:³¹²

It is essential in developing the capacity to be autonomous that the agent trusts her capacity to make appropriate choices, given her beliefs, desires, and values; that she trusts her ability to act on her decisions; and also that she trusts the judgments she makes that underlie her decisions.

³⁰⁸ E.g., see Teman, 96-8.

³⁰⁹ Teman, 96. Also it is important to recognize this was the first surrogate in Israel and therefore may have been unable to cope because of a lack of familiarity (e.g., a lack of surrogacy network which would offer support).

³¹⁰ Teman, 96-7. Additionally, the surrogate found it difficult to keep emotional distance from the child and, years later, is still impacted by this.

³¹¹ Teman, 253.

³¹² McLeod and Sherwin, 262-3.

Some surrogates appear to display a high degree of self-trust. Consider, for example, Carsley's observation: "I've met with surrogates who are incredibly strong women [who] know exactly what they're doing and why they are doing it." Such surrogates appear to trust their judgements and their ability to act on them (and perhaps 'strong' in this context suggests assertiveness) which likely serves them well as they navigate various autonomy-related threats.

Other surrogates appear less able to trust their judgements and their ability to act on them, whether because they lack the resources (e.g., information) required for forming good decisions, they doubt their capacity to do so (e.g., because they do not feel in control of their lives because of pressure from the intended parents), or because they effectively cannot exercise their autonomy properly (e.g., they live with the intended parents and therefore have a restricted ability to do things³¹⁴).

Surrogates are also expected to be "savvy negotiators"³¹⁵ who negotiate and manage boundaries throughout the surrogacy pathway. This negotiation aspect emphasizes that respecting boundaries takes place in a social context, where communication is critical and whether the surrogate is able to exercise their autonomy depends on their particular situation—they may have the skills and resources required, without being properly able to act on their autonomous interests because of the nature of the surrogacy arrangement they belong to. Social Circumstances (Relationships and Social Networks)

McLeod and Sherwin consider how an individual's autonomy is impacted by their social circumstances: how they are situated in society (e.g., the barriers they encounter) as well as the

³¹³ Carsley (2020), 1.

³¹⁴ E.g., see Teman, 96-7.

³¹⁵ Ziff, 517.

³¹⁶ Ziff, 513

³¹⁷ E.g., see McLeod and Sherwin (specifically 264), who discuss how external constraints can reduce one's ability to exercise their autonomy.

relationships they form.³¹⁸ This perspective captures another important aspect of the surrogate's journey: whether they can effectively manage threats to their autonomy is not just a matter of their skills and resources; it also depends on how they relate to others and to society.

While surrogates' relationships with others can threaten, and even undermine, their autonomy—for example, if the intended parent(s) are particularly controlling or if the surrogacy arrangement is marred by conflict—the opposite can also be true. As I previously mentioned, it has been assumed that involving multiple perspectives in decision-making is harmful. Consider the worry that patients are pressured by family members to make certain decisions. As Ho (2008) argues, this is generally only a concern when family members and patients have conflicting values and interests. Similarly, when intended parents and surrogates have compatible values and expectations, surrogates are less likely to encounter unexpected harms (e.g., which would emerge with conflict or pressure to realize values the surrogates disagree with) and generally report being satisfied with their arrangements.

Studies have revealed that many surrogates and intended parents form close and meaningful friendships. 322 Such relationships, typically considered 'harmonious,' are frequently described by surrogates as mutually respectful, 323 which may signal that the surrogates in such arrangements do not feel a substantial loss of control, unexpected harm, or pressure due to their interactions with their intended parents. In some surrogacy arrangements, intended parents are attentive to the surrogate's boundaries and ensure they are respected, leading to fewer instances

³¹⁸ E.g., see McLeod and Sherwin, 260.

³¹⁹ Ho. 133

³²⁰ See Yee et al. (2020), e263: if they are "like minded" there is a "good chance" of a "harmonious relationship."

³²¹ Payne et al., 188.

³²² E.g., see Teman, 197; Payne et al., 185-6; Ziff, 259-260; Yee et al. (2020), e260.

³²³ See Yee et al. (2020): "In instances where the surrogates described having a 'harmonious' relationship with their intended parents, strong emotional connection, trust, and respect between parties were frequently mentioned" (e259-260).

of surrogates feeling controlled and pressured.³²⁴ Consider, for example, one couple who expressed discomfort at the prospect of forcing their surrogate to undergo certain medical procedures, citing the surrogate's right to bodily autonomy.³²⁵ They also avoided touching the surrogate's belly, with the view that doing so would violate her privacy and bodily autonomy.³²⁶

As such, relationships between intended parents and surrogates, if they are positive and respectful, oftentimes support the autonomy of surrogates. At the same time, other kinds of relationships and support systems can protect against threats to autonomy. Many surrogates consider social support—from family, friends, and often surrogacy networks (i.e., current and previous surrogates)—critical for having a good surrogacy experience. This is perhaps why some surrogacy agencies prefer (even require) surrogates who are married or otherwise "have a good support system." Access to surrogacy networks assists surrogates in knowing what to expect in their arrangement—thereby reducing the chance of unexpected harm—and in dealing with the various stressors they encounter (e.g., related to a loss of control), making it a good means of protecting their autonomy. In Canada, accessing surrogacy networks can be difficult because of how few surrogates there have been; surrogacy agencies may help in this regard.

As can be discerned from the above, a surrogate's relationships with others, whether intended parents, family and friends, surrogacy agencies, or medical professionals, can protect against threats to autonomy—and also bolster the surrogate's access to resources and capacity for managing and preventing the threats. If the surrogate/intended parents' relationship is supportive and mutually respectful, the surrogate may be enabled to "operationalize" the skills

³²⁴ Teman, 94.

³²⁵ Teman, 94.

³²⁶ Teman, 94.

³²⁷ Yee et al. (2020), e261, e263.

³²⁸ See Surrogacy in Canada Online, "Surrogate Mother Qualifications."

³²⁹ Yee et al., (2020). See especially: e263.

³³⁰ Yee et al., (2020). See especially: e261-263.

they have (e.g., the surrogate may have the means to set boundaries and may feel like they can if they are in a safe place to do so).³³¹ If the relationship is instead abusive or has significant power divides, the surrogate may feel like they are incapable of asserting themselves even if they have the resources and skills to do so. If the intended parents are attuned to personal space and other aspects of bodily autonomy, they may encourage surrogates to develop skills reflecting assertiveness (e.g., the ability to 'erect boundaries').

Surrogacy agencies can assist surrogates in navigating surrogacy and the adjoining stressors to their wellbeing and autonomy (e.g., by putting them into contact with other surrogates at their agency, which can in turn provide support and help surrogates to predict and manage potential stressors), 332 although it seems some are more supportive than others (e.g., some appear to prioritize the needs of surrogates, whereas others appear biased in favour of the intended parents 333). Similarly, medical and mental health professionals can ensure surrogates receive the information required for making decisions with respect to surrogacy (e.g., whether to enter an arrangement), thereby reducing the potential for unexpected harm. While counselling is not legally required, it is typically paid for by the intended parents and highly recommended by scholars and surrogacy agencies. 334 During the surrogacy pathway, counsellors can reduce conflict in the arrangement and assist in the "management of expectations," which presumably lowers the chance of surrogates having their autonomy being infringed upon (open communication can enable surrogates to express their boundaries).

_

³³¹ Teman, 96.

³³² Yee et al. (2020), e262.

³³³ See Fantus (2020), 804; Yee et al. (2020), e260.

³³⁴ E.g., see Yee et al. (2020), e263; Reilly, 485.

³³⁵ Yee et al. (2020), e263.

4.2 Capturing the Protective Factors—and Threats to Autonomy—in Policy

As the protective factors support the autonomy of surrogates, they should be considered in policy discussions. While dealing with certain theoretical concerns may be difficult—for example, addressing the problem of adaptive preferences—there are different ways these protective factors, and the threats to autonomy more directly, may be acknowledged in policy. In this section, I will focus on informed choice and, in particular, the information surrogates should receive prior to signing surrogacy agreements. As I will discuss, much of the information surrogates should access—in order to make an informed choice as to whether to enter an arrangement—is not mandatory to address, and the information which is typically addressed does not sufficiently capture the autonomy-related concerns surrogacy presents.

The first part of this chapter examined resources, particularly information, which support surrogates' autonomy. As discussed, having adequate access to information can prevent some threats and assist surrogates in managing others (e.g., unexpected harm is diminished as surrogates are able to anticipate potential issues, and therefore prepare for them and properly consent to them). There are measures in place which support this protective factor: legal requirements of consent (with the assistance of an attorney) and the information typically addressed during the process of contract signing. However, potential issues were highlighted, one being that the information surrogates receive is variable, in part because of the lack of publicly available information on surrogacy³³⁶ and in part because of issues with the laws on surrogacy.

A related and more general concern is that surrogacy agreements do not emphasize

³³⁶ Most of the information now seems to be on surrogacy agency websites, which perhaps is not good as they have an interest in attracting surrogates. Health Canada could come up with a webpage on surrogacy information.

considerations which would support a surrogate's capacity to make an informed choice. Although the *AHRA* specifies that consent, regarding reproductive technologies (and medical procedures) must be "free and fully informed," no definition is provided: it is unclear what informed consent means in this case and how it would be best supported (e.g., what kinds of information should be addressed). Similarly, the *CLRA* says that for surrogacy agreements to be valid they have to be consented to, but it is unclear what this means besides the requirement that surrogates have to be "capable of providing consent." Thus, neither the *AHRA* nor the *CLRA* ensure that surrogates provide informed consent when they sign surrogacy agreements.

As for what is covered by the consent process, surrogacy agreements tend to prioritize the interests of the child, ³⁴⁰ reflecting how the *AHRA* prioritizes the interests of children. ³⁴¹ More specifically, most of the provisions in surrogacy agreements are directed at supporting the interests of the child (e.g., how the surrogate should modify their lifestyle for the benefit of the child). With this imbalance, ³⁴² not enough attention is given to the information surrogates should access in order to make an informed choice of whether to consent to an agreement.

It appears that the information surrogates receive during the contract stage of surrogacy arrangements depends on what attorneys (or surrogacy agencies) relay. While attorneys assist the parties in negotiating and signing agreements, only some provisions are legally required, and these only minimally facilitate informed choice (for the agreement to be valid only the parties and their roles, i.e., whether they are intended parents or surrogates, have to be indicated).

2

³³⁷ AHRA, 2(d).

³³⁸ CLRA, 10 (6).

³³⁹ While surrogates would always have the right to informed consent in medicine, this is a different matter from informed consent with respect to the surrogacy agreement more broadly.

³⁴⁰ See *CLRA*, 10(8).

³⁴¹ AHRA 2(a): consider its first principle: "the health and well-being of children born through the application of assisted human reproductive technologies must be given priority in all decisions respecting their use."

³⁴² This imbalance in protections is potentially problematic itself: as surrogates are already vulnerable to various threats, this imbalance in protections may exasperate issues surrogates experience, such as power imbalances and the pressure they face.

Surrogacy agreements ideally make the expectations of each party clear, so as to avoid future conflict,³⁴³ but these expectations are not required to be addressed. Clearly, this fact may impact the protective factors: if the expectations of the intended parents and surrogates are not identified, surrogates likely would be less able to prepare for potential issues (e.g., prepare to 'erect boundaries' which prevent a loss of control), less able to determine compatibility between the parties (which impacts the surrogate's experience, including whether they experience pressure because of conflicting values), and generally less able to gauge whether the arrangement aligns with their autonomous interests (i.e., whether they should consent to it).

It is recommended—but again, not necessary—that attorneys inform surrogates of the risks involved in surrogacy. This is sensible, as whether the arrangement supports the autonomous interests of the surrogate rests on whether the arrangement is worth pursuing despite potential harm. However, the risks which are recommended (and seemingly standard³⁴⁴) to disclose only account for some autonomy-related harms. Consider a guidance document on surrogacy agreements in Ontario, which states: "A good [s]urrogacy [a]greement will include provisions that detail [medical and legal risks associated with the surrogacy arrangement] and recognition of those risks by the parties involved."³⁴⁵ These risks are qualified as: the potential for medical complications impacting either the surrogate or the child; the potential for the child to have disabilities, die, or be aborted; and the potential for the intended parents to separate, die, or otherwise breach their agreement.³⁴⁶ Although some of these concerns are rare and potentially overstated,³⁴⁷ these risks address some autonomy-related concerns: the potential for unexpected

_

³⁴³ E.g., see Lepine.

³⁴⁴ It seems that, per Lepine (2016) and Carsley (2021), these provisions tend to be discussed. However, there is no official data on this so it is hard to know how standard they are.

³⁴⁵ Lepine, 6.

³⁴⁶ Lepine 6.

³⁴⁷ Some of these concerns may be less relevant. E.g., the aforementioned studies have not revealed cases of an intended parent dying or a child being born with disabilities and this impacting the surrogate.

harm, emerging from medical complications or conflict between the parties.

However, these risks do not fully capture the autonomy-related threats surrogates tend to encounter. Loss of control and pressure are not identified in this risk disclosure (and do not appear to be addressed in surrogacy agreements) and neither are the ways in which surrogates can and do (and may be forced to) navigate these threats. The closest acknowledgement of these issues is the guidance document's recommendation that "[1]awyers for Surrogates should ensure that their clients understand that the Surrogates have the right to resist pressures from Intended Parents to control their choices during the pregnancy." While this information is appliable to autonomy-related issues, it is not very helpful. Based on my discussions in chapters 2 and 3, and specifically the reports of surrogates—which emphasize autonomy-related threats and how they are managed—the following information should be addressed:

- How surrogates commonly encounter threats to autonomy: a loss of control, pressure to adhere to the agreement and to appease the intended parents, and unexpected harm
- How surrogates can manage these threats, through certain strategies (e.g., the protective factors) which may not be available to everyone (e.g., the capacity to be assertive)
- How surrogates may be 'forced' to manage the threats in certain ways, given the constraints of the arrangement (e.g., modifying their preferences or erecting boundaries).

With this information, surrogates would have the resources for anticipating potential threats and preparing for them. This information would facilitate all of the protective factors and diminish the potential for autonomy-related harm. Considering the former, this information would be a kind of resource (therefore under the first protective factor) which would enable prospective surrogates to autonomously decide whether to enter an agreement, and better enable them to

³⁴⁸ Lepine 5.

manage threats in a way that does not obstruct their autonomy. With this knowledge, surrogates would be able to better access the second and third protective factors, by knowing the importance of boundary work and of having relevant capacities (e.g., assertiveness) and by knowing the relational dimensions of surrogacy arrangements (e.g., how compatibility impacts the threats surrogates encounter and whether they have access to the right social supports).

This knowledge would better equip surrogates to predict and manage the threats they encounter throughout the arrangement, as well as determine whether the arrangement accords with their autonomous interests. Considering this latter point, knowing about the autonomy-related threats can help prospective surrogates determine whether they will be impacted by them. As discussed in this thesis, the threats impact surrogates differently, depending on their interests (e.g., whether they are significantly bothered by conflict³⁴⁹ or by the prospect of having to manage the threats in certain ways), capacities (e.g., whether they can easily assert themselves), and supports (e.g., whether they have a good social support system for managing threats). Thus, having knowledge of these potential harms would allow surrogates to decide whether to enter the arrangement. We can imagine some prospective surrogates who would not pursue surrogacy knowing about some of these threats (e.g., consider those who easily 'cave into pressure').

This knowledge would clearly not prevent all potential harms, one reason being that making an autonomous decision—even if 'fully informed'—may depend on one's capacities and prior experiences. Part of knowing whether a decision accords with one's autonomous interests depends on how well someone knows themselves and whether they trust this self-knowledge.³⁵⁰ Moreover, some of the harms may be difficult to anticipate and prepare for (e.g., being sure

³⁴⁹ We can imagine someone who is effectively unphased by conflict between parties for whatever reason (e.g., perhaps they naturally have a high tolerance for stress).

³⁵⁰ E.g., see McLeod and Sherwin.

about compatibility between the parties would likely only reduce the potential for conflict³⁵¹) and it may be challenging to gauge one's capacity to deal with the threats and how their autonomy may be impacted by them. Some of these concerns may be addressed with assistance from others: in general, counselling can help individuals develop self-awareness (e.g., about their capacities) and deal with issues in relationships (e.g., difficulties dealing with conflict or setting boundaries).

In terms of delivering the autonomy-related information, it would be sensible to first shift the kinds of information attorneys, surrogacy agencies, and counsellors emphasize when they communicate with (prospective) surrogates. Currently, the emphasis is on psychological and physical harms, which are related to but distinct from the autonomy-related harms. For instance, screening of surrogates typically amounts to an assessment of "physical and psychological vulnerabilities." This assessment can be easily amended to include autonomy-related issues, such as whether someone is particularly vulnerable to autonomy-related threats. Similarly, when attorneys address medical complications, they can also relay autonomy-related harms.

Additional measures would likely be needed: the issue is not just the *kinds* of information surrogates receive, but also how—and whether—they receive it.³⁵⁵ As revealed in this chapter, the information surrogates receive is variable, depending on what the attorneys and agencies relay (and whether the agencies connect them with surrogacy networks).³⁵⁶ In order to ensure that (prospective) surrogates access the right information, the consent process could be modified

-

³⁵¹ Payne et al., 186.

³⁵² It would make sense for all of these parties to play a role in delivering this information, since they are usually the 'intermediaries' which enable prospective surrogates to make informed choices (see Yee et al., 2020 and Fantus 2020).

³⁵⁴ E.g., whether they are normally confident navigating conflict and forming boundaries.

³⁵⁵ For how the information is delivered, it should be in a manner which appreciates the complexity of surrogates arrangements and the associated harms. For example, as opposed to telling prospective surrogates "you may experience a loss of control," it would be important for surrogates to have a good grasp of how they might experience potential threats.

³⁵⁶ As this information is not mandatory to address. E.g., see Fantus (2020).

to require attorneys to discuss relevant (including autonomy-related) risks with surrogates. The *CLRA* could be amended accordingly (e.g., to require surrogates to provide *informed* consent³⁵⁷). A less stringent approach would be to encourage attorneys to discuss the autonomy-related threats with prospective surrogates (e.g., in a guidance document) with the hope that this would eventually become standard practice. A drawback of this would of course be the fact that attorneys may not be motivated by this guidance.³⁵⁸

Another measure would be to organize, and require prospective surrogates to attend, a 'class' on surrogacy which is informed by surrogates' experiences. Although it is unclear how this class would be implemented, it would be a sensible approach, as it would guarantee that surrogates would access the same information (perhaps it would be easier to have oversight over the class as opposed to attorneys delivering the information to surrogates themselves), and the information could be delivered by former or current surrogates themselves, which would provide prospective surrogates with insight into the complexity of surrogacy arrangements (and can therefore account for information attorneys may not have familiarity with or be able to address). Extending the class in the form of information sessions, which function as support groups for surrogates, would attend to the dynamic nature of surrogacy arrangements. This would be a good approach, as it would ensure that surrogates have access to a support system which would in turn enable them to cope with the autonomy-related threats they encounter.

_

³⁵⁷ E.g., qualifying this as informing surrogates of physical, psychological, and autonomy-related risks. The *AHRA* could qualify what 'informed consent' with respect to reproductive technologies means, but likely this would be addressed provincially in which case the *CLRA* would be amended.

³⁵⁸ That is, if there is no legal requirement to address this information or no repercussion if they do not.

³⁵⁹ Damelio and Sorensen (2018) support this approach, though they focus on issues less relevant to Canada like commercialization.

³⁶⁰ E.g., whether under provincial or federal purview. Another measure would be to regulate agencies and require that they offer the class.

³⁶¹ E.g., see Damelio and Sorensen, 276.

³⁶² E.g., see ibid.

³⁶³ This would deal with the issue of unequal access to surrogate networks. E.g., see Yee et al. (2020). These sessions could be optional as not every surrogate would feel they need help managing the threats, whereas the initial session should be mandatory to facilitate informed choice.

5. Conclusion

This thesis has examined surrogacy with a focus on surrogacy arrangements in Canada and specifically the experiences of surrogates. Overall, I have emphasized how surrogacy arrangements vary considerably and surrogates encounter and manage autonomy-related threats in different ways. As such, we should be careful to avoid generalizing about surrogates having undermined autonomy or surrogacy arrangements being inherently autonomy undermining. Yet it is also important to consider what may be missing from the studies and in particular the reports of surrogates. While the studies capture the complexity of surrogacy arrangements and the ways in which surrogates navigate autonomy-related threats, they would benefit from a more balanced approach which analyzes the reports from within a broader context which considers factors such as the external constraints surrogates experience and why they report as they do. This thesis has therefore gestured to directions research on surrogacy should take, while also highlighting policy implications around how autonomy-related threats should be dealt with.

Bibliography

Statute and Regulations

Assisted Human Reproduction Act, SC 2004, c 2.

Children's Law Reform Act, RSO 1990, c C.12.

Reimbursement Related to Assisted Human Reproduction Regulations, SOR/2019-193.

Case Law

King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust v. C & Anor, 2015 EWCOP 80.

K.B. v. M.S.B., 2021 BCSC 1283.

Wilhelmson v. Dumma, 2017 BCSC 616.

C.P.B. v. L.M.B., 2019 SKQB 306.

M.L. v. J.C., 2017 ONSC 7179.

Secondary Sources

Bailey, Alison. "Reconceiving Surrogacy: Toward a Reproductive Justice Account of Indian Surrogacy." *Hypatia*, vol. 26, no. 4, 2011, pp. 715-741.

Campbell, Angela. "Law's Suppositions about Surrogacy Against the Backdrop of Social Science." *Ottawa Law Review*, vol. 43, no. 1, 2012, pp. 29-57.

Canner, Stephanie. "Navigating Surrogacy Law in the Non-United States: Why All States Should Adopt a Uniform Surrogacy Statute." *Journal of Civil Rights and Economic Development*, vol. 33, no. 2, 2020, pp. 113-140.

Carsley, Stefanie. "Regulating Reimbursements for Surrogate Mothers." *Alberta Law Review*, vol. 58, no. 4, 2021, pp. 811-836.

- Carsley, Stephanie. Surrogacy in Canada: Lawyers' Experiences, Practices and Perspectives.

 2020. McGill University, PhD dissertation.
- Cudd, Ann. Analyzing Oppression, New York, Oxford University Press, 2006.
- Damelio Jennifer and Kelly Sorensen. "Enhancing Autonomy in Paid Surrogacy." *Bioethics*, vol. 22, no. 5, 2008, pp. 269-77.
- Dodds, Susan and Karen Jones. "Surrogacy and Autonomy." *Bioethics*, vol. 3, no. 1, 1989, pp. 1-17.
- Drabiak-Syed, Katherine. "Currents in Contemporary Bioethics: Waiving Informed Consent to Prenatal Screening and Diagnosis? Problems with Paradoxical Negotiation in Surrogacy Contracts." *The Journal of Law, Medicine, and Ethics*, vol. 39, no. 3, 2011, pp. 559-564.
- Fantus, Sophia. "Two Men and a Surrogate: A Qualitative Study of Surrogacy Relationships in Canada." *Family Relations*, vol. 70, no. 1, 2020, pp.246-263.
- Fantus, Sophia. "A Report on the Supports and Barriers of Surrogacy in Canada." *J Obstet Gynaecol Can*, vol. 42, no. 6, 2020, pp.803-805.
- Fulfer, Katy. "A Partial Defense of the Non-Commercialization of Surrogacy." *The Canadian Journal of Bioethics*, vol. 3, no. 3, 2020, pp. 88-99.
- Gomez et al. "Pressure to have multiple babies putting surrogates 'at risk'." *CBC News*, 2020, https://www.cbc.ca/news/health/pressure-to-have-multiple-babies-putting-surrogates-at-risk-1.5459957.
- Health Canada, "Compliance and Enforcement Policy for the *Assisted Human Reproduction Act* (POL-0100)." 2019, https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/drugs-health-products/compliance-enforcement/information-health-product/compliance-enforcement-policy-assisted-human-reproduction.html.

- Ho, Anita. "Relational Autonomy or Undue Pressure? Family's Role in Medical Decision-Making." *Scandinavian Journal of Caring Studies*, vol. 22, no, 1, 2008, pp.128-135.
- Hollis-Haynes, Geoff. "Social Behaviour." Individual and Social Behaviour (PSYCH 105), February 2016, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB. Lecture.
- Johnston, Rebekah. "Personal Autonomy, Social Identity, and Oppressive Social Contexts." *Hypatia*, vol. 32, no. 2, 2017, pp. 312-328.
- Laufer-Ukeles, Pamela. "The Disembodied Womb: Pregnancy, Informed Consent and Surrogate Motherhood." *North Carolina Journal of International Law and Commercial Regulation*, vol. 43, 2018, pp. 1-53.
- Lepine, Erin. "Carrying a Surrogacy Agreement to Term: Best Practices." 25th Annual Institute of Family Law Conference (Fairmont Le Château Montebello), 2016, pp. 1-10.
- McLeod, Carolyn and Susan Sherwin. "Relational Autonomy, Self-Trust, and Health Care for Patients Who Are Oppressed." *Relational Autonomy: Feminist Perspectives on Autonomy, Agency and the Social Self*, edited by Catriona MacKenzie and Natalie Stoljar, Oxford University Press, 2000, pp. 259-298.
- Mohanty, Chandra. "Under Western Eyes: Feminist Scholarship and Colonial Discourses." *Boundary 2*, vol. 12/13, 1984, pp. 333-58.
- NeJaime, Douglas et al. "Surrogacy, Autonomy, and Equality." 2020 Global Constitutionalism Seminar Volume, Yale Law School, 2020, pp. 1-28.
- Oshana, Marina. *Personal Autonomy in Society*. Hampshire, Ashgate, 2006.
- Payne, Jenny et al. "Surrogacy Relationships: A Critical Interpretative Review." *Upsala Journal of Medical Sciences*, vol. 125, no. 2, 2020, pp. 183-191.
- Peng, Lina. "Surrogate Mothers: An Exploration of the Empirical and the Normative." American

- University Journal of Gender Social Policy and Law, vol. 21, no. 3, 2013, pp. 555-582.
- Privy Council Office, "Proceed with Care: Final report of the Royal Commission on New Reproductive Technologies," 1993, https://publications.gc.ca/site/eng/9.895489/publication.html.
- "R v Picard and Canadian Fertility Consulting Ltd: Agreed Statement of Facts," retrieved from https://www.dal.ca/sites/noveltechethics/projects/human-reproduction/breaking-the-law.html.
- Reilly, Dan. "Surrogate Pregnancy: A Guide for Canadian Prenatal Health Care Providers." *CMAJ*, vol. 176, no. 4, 2007, pp. 483-485.
- Rozée, Virginie. "The Social Paradoxes of Commercial Surrogacy in Developing Countries:

 India Before the New Law Of 2018." *BMC Women's Health*, vol. 20, no. 234, 2020, pp. 1-14.
- Stoljar, Natalie. "Feminist Perspectives on Autonomy." *The Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy*, 2018, https://plato.stanford.edu/archives/win2018/entries/feminism-autonomy/.
- "Surrogate Mother FAQ." *Surrogacy in Canada Online*, https://surrogacy.ca/surrogate-mothers/surrogate-faq.html.
- "Surrogate Mother Qualifications." *Surrogacy in Canada Online*, https://surrogacy.ca/surrogate-mother-qualifications.html.
- Teman, Elly. *Birthing a Mother: The Surrogate Body and the Pregnant Self.* Oakland, University of California Press, 2010.
- Toledano, Sarah and Kristin Zeiler. "Hosting the Others' Child? Relational Work and Embodied

- Responsibility in Altruistic Surrogate Motherhood." *Feminist Theory*, vol.18, no. 2, 2017, pp. 159-175.
- Yee, Samantha, et al. "Determinants of Gestational Surrogates' Satisfaction in Relation to the Characteristics of Surrogacy Cases." *Reprod Biomed Online*, vol. 39, no. 2, 2019, pp. 249-261.
- Yee, Samantha, et al. "Not My Child to Give Away': A Qualitative Analysis of Gestational Surrogates' Experiences." *Women Birth*, vol. 33, no. 3, 2020, pp. e256-e265.
- Ziff, Elizabeth. "Surrogacy and Medicalization: Navigating Power, Control, and Autonomy in Embodied Labor." *The Sociological Quarterly*, vol. 62, no. 3, 2011, pp. 510-527.